SPRINGER BRIEFS IN POLITICAL SCIENCE

# Abdulsalam Muala

Unlocking the Palestinian-Israeli Negotiations A Critical Review of Contemporary Literature and Methodologies



SpringerBriefs in Political Science

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/8871

Abdulsalam Muala

# Unlocking the Palestinian-Israeli Negotiations

A Critical Review of Contemporary Literature and Methodologies



Abdulsalam Muala Northern University of Malaysia Changlun, Kedah, Malaysia

ISSN 2191-5466 ISSN 2191-5474 (electronic) SpringerBriefs in Political Science ISBN 978-981-13-8793-7 ISBN 978-981-13-8794-4 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8794-4

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. The registered company address is: 152 Beach Road, #21-01/04 Gateway East, Singapore 189721, Singapore

## Preface

Scholars and researchers have considered that the Palestinian-Israeli negotiations have reached a deadlock. There are a fair number of studies that have tried to explore the factors and reasons that led to. This study seeks to achieve two goals. First: to assess the methodology used by literature to evaluate and analyze the Palestinian-Israeli negotiation process based on the assumption that the methodology mentioned has involved a clear shortcoming given the narrow analytical framework that it had adopted while trying to evaluate the negotiating experience referred to. Second: to monitor the reflections of that shortcoming on the nature of the recommendations offered by the literature to remove the negotiating impasse, which is represented in the call to replace conflict resolution methodology with conflict management methodology and then to explore whether this substitution will facilitate a break from the negotiating stalemate and pave the way for a reasonable solution to the conflict, as those studies see, or it will only push the conflict into a state of negative inertia. The study reviews and analyzes the factors considered by previous studies as the reason why the negotiation process has become blocked; then study highlights other inputs that critically affect the outcomes of the negotiating process but were neglected by these studies. It then analyzes the implications of the replacement of conflict methodologies and explores the effects of that on the outcomes of the negotiating process. The study found that the analytical framework used by literature had been clearly deficient; this deficiency is plainly reflected in the nature of recommendations that have been called upon to replace the methodologies dealing with the conflict. These recommendations neither facilitating the process of reaching a solution to the conflict nor finding a solution to the negotiating impasse, but pushed them into a state of negative inertia.

Changlun, Malaysia

Abdulsalam Muala

## Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Aminurraasyid Yatiban the elegant guidance in my Ph.D. journey. It is difficult to express my gratitude for the experts who reviewed the manuscript and provided me with valuable observations which ameliorated the final shape of this book. Many thanks to Dr. Timothy N. Walters who has exerted a commendable effort to edit the first draft of the manuscript. I am grateful to the editor in Springer Alexandra Campbell for her interest and cooperation, as well as Ameena Jaafar and many hidden others.

## Contents

1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Background on the Palestinian-Israeli Negotiations	1
	1.2	The Concept of Conflict	4
	1.3	The Concept of Conflict Resolution	5
	1.4	The Concept of Conflict Management	8
	1.5	Patterns of Conflict	9
		1.5.1 Conflicts of Interests	10
		1.5.2 Conflicts of Values and Basic Needs	10
	1.6	Conclusion	11
	Refe	rences	12
2	Diac	mosing the Palestinian-Israeli Conflict and an Analysis	
-		ne Relevant Negotiating Process	17
	2.1	Analysis of the Nature of the Palestinian-Israeli Conflict	17
	2.2	Characteristics of the Palestinian-Israeli Conflict	18
		2.2.1 Existential Conflict	18
		2.2.2 Asymmetric Conflict	19
		2.2.3 Protracted Conflict and the Negotiating Process	24
		2.2.4 Lack of Trust Between the Parties to the Conflict	25
	2.3	Conclusion	29
	Refe	rences	29
3	Cub	icata Dianagandad in the Literature of the Delectinian Israeli	
3		jects Disregarded in the Literature of the Palestinian-Israeli	33
	3.1	Other Factors Influencing the Outcomes of the Negotiating	55
	5.1	Process	33
		3.1.1 The Extent to Which the Negotiating Process Meets	55
		the Theoretical Rules of Negotiation	34
		3.1.2 The Viability of the Palestinian-Israeli Conflict	54
		for Negotiated Solutions.	36
			50

		3.1.3 The Impact of the Negotiating Strategies Used	36
		3.1.4 The Negotiating Objectives of the Parties	
		to the Conflict	41
		3.1.5 The Impact of the International Political Context	
		on the Outcomes of the Negotiating Process	41
	3.2	How the Methodology of the Literature Reflected	
		on the Nature of Recommendations	42
		3.2.1 Changing the Priorities	43
		3.2.2 Adopting Reverse Methodology	43
	3.3	Conclusion	44
	Refe	erences	44
4	Shif	ting from Conflict Resolution to Conflict Management	49
	4.1	Emergence of Conflict Management Method	49
		Energenee of connect management meaner	49
	4.2	Dialectic Relationship Between Conflict Resolution	49
	4.2		49 52
	4.2	Dialectic Relationship Between Conflict Resolution	
	4.2	Dialectic Relationship Between Conflict Resolution and Conflict Management	52
	<ul><li>4.2</li><li>4.3</li></ul>	Dialectic Relationship Between Conflict Resolution   and Conflict Management   4.2.1   Chronological Sequence	52 52
		Dialectic Relationship Between Conflict Resolutionand Conflict Management4.2.1Chronological Sequence4.2.2Replacement	52 52 53
	4.3	Dialectic Relationship Between Conflict Resolutionand Conflict Management4.2.1Chronological Sequence4.2.2ReplacementConflict Management and Israeli Negotiating Behavior	52 52 53 54
	4.3 4.4 4.5	Dialectic Relationship Between Conflict Resolution   and Conflict Management .   4.2.1 Chronological Sequence .   4.2.2 Replacement .   Conflict Management and Israeli Negotiating Behavior .   Assessment of Conflict Management Method .	52 52 53 54 56

## Chapter 1 Introduction



Abstract This chapter focuses on the conceptual framework of the conflict, a necessary step that paves the way to a deeper understanding of the case in question and leads to addressing the conflict in a better manner. This is done by reviewing the basic concepts directly relevant to this study as well as previous studies. The chapter begins with a background on the Palestinian-Israeli negotiations, and then reviews the concept of conflict, the concept of conflict resolution, the concept of conflict management, and, finally, the patterns of conflict. A discussion of the concept of conflict, its causes and how best to address it. Highlighting the concepts of conflict resolution and conflict management helps to clarify the differences between them and how to deal with conflict considering the trade-offs between them as well as to explore the shape of the relationship between each of them with the conflict. The analysis of conflict patterns helps in identifying the extent to which the conflict is responding to negotiating solutions according to the nature of the conflict.

**Keywords** Conflict · Conflict resolution · Conflict management · Patterns of conflict

### 1.1 Background on the Palestinian-Israeli Negotiations

After decades of harsh and protracted conflict in Palestine, the United States decided to invite the parties to the Palestinian-Israeli conflict to sit at the negotiating table to discuss the destiny of the conflict. The Madrid Peace Conference held in the Spanish capital in 1991 was the starting point for what has become known as the Arab-Israeli peace process, which has taken negotiation as a mechanism to find a solution to the Arab/Palestinian-Israeli conflict.

At subsequent negotiations and as a culmination of secret talks between representatives of the Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO) and the Israeli government that held in the capital of Norway, the two parties announced that they had achieved a political agreement in 1993. The optimism that accompanied the signing of the Oslo agreement was not long lasting. Despite the relatively short period of time the parties needed to achieve that agreement, indications of disagreement between them started to emerge while they tried to apply the accord on the ground (Rynhold 2008). Therefore, that dilemma pushed the parties into detailed renegotiations on many of the issues agreed upon in Oslo and necessitated the signing of new conventions.

The negotiating option received a painful blow when the Israeli Likud party came to power in 1996. Benjamin Netanyahu, the new Israeli Prime Minister, worked diligently to freeze and sabotage the Oslo agreement by carrying out unilateral steps. He continued the policy of demolishing Palestinian homes and confiscating their land, imposing curfews on them, as well as continuing to build Jewish settlements in the occupied Palestinian territory (Shlaim 2016). Accordingly, it became clear to the Palestinians that the Netanyahu government (1996–1999) was not serious about the search for a political solution to the conflict on the basis of Security Council Resolution 242 (Land for Peace); additionally, the thought was that Israeli governments might be unwilling to do so future (Pundak 2001).<sup>1</sup> As a result, the negotiating process did not show any progress at all.

With the return of the Israeli Labor Party to power again in 1999, the Israeli Prime Minister, Ehud Barak, did not show enthusiasm for returning the negotiation process to its former state. Instead, he adopted a negotiating policy of maneuvering and procrastination. This was demonstrated by the continuation of settlement construction, the maintenance of military roadblocks in the occupied Palestinian territory, and the worsening of the economic situation, which pushed the Palestinian people to despair with respect to the negotiating process (Pundak 2001).

When the chairman of Israeli opposition party Ariel Sharon visited Al-Aqsa Mosque (Al-Haram Al-Sharif) in a provocative manner on September 28, 2000, the Palestinians realized that the Israelis had no desire to end their occupation of the Palestinian territories, then they soon launched Intifada Al-Aqsa against the Israeli occupation. Early 2001 witnessed the last attempt to break the stalemate in the Palestinian-Israeli negotiations through what so-called Taba talks, which held from January 21–27, but the two sides failed to reach an agreement (Matz 2003). At this juncture, experts and researchers considered that the option of negotiation aimed at finding a solution to the Palestinian-Israeli conflict had completely collapsed (Kelman 2005).

The Palestinian-Israeli negotiation experience acquires importance from three dimensions. The first of which reflects the growing interest in negotiation by States and rival groups as a mean of solving the problems arising between them (Maiese 2003). Secondly, it is difficult to separate the Palestinian-Israeli conflict from the international context and its influences from its very inception to the current moment (Kriesberg 2009). This has been manifested through the global dealt with the conflict (Yehoshua 2011, April 26), as the Middle East has been a great magnet for garnering the attention of the international political system (Shlaim 2016). Finally, the obvious deadlock that has accompanied the negotiating experience.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>One of the Israeli architects of the Oslo Accords.

Previous studies have discussed several issues while trying to explore the reasons that have caused the deadlock that has arisen in the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating process. A fundamental question remains, however, about the reasons why that process has not achieved the assumed negotiating objectives so far.

Past studies have focused on the nature of the conflict and its characteristics as main inputs into their analyses. Certainly, these are important inputs and should not be neglected in any way. On the other hand, these inputs alone seem insufficient to form an analytical framework aimed at assessing the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating experience. In fact, other crucial factors and ingredients exist, which clearly affect the outcomes of the negotiating process. Unfortunately, they have been absent from previous analytical frameworks attempting to monitor and analyze the negotiating experience in question. However, the failure to take these into account has meant that the evaluation process is clearly flawed (Barqawi and Katchanovski 2013).

This issue is considered to be a cornerstone for attempting to assess the methodology on which past studies depended while trying to address the impasse of the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating process.

Needless to say, the exclusion of several considerations and factors with a clear impact on the outcome of the negotiating process by the previous studies has negatively impacted the nature of perceptions and recommendations made by them to exit the negotiating deadlock. These implications have been embodied in the call to replace the conflict resolution method that aims to address the root causes of the conflict with conflict management method, which focuses on the change of self-awareness, the political culture of the parties to the conflict, and their perceptions towards each other on the one hand, and towards the conflict on the other hand, so as to facilitate the process of reaching a solution (Aggestam 1999).

Conflict resolution method often leads to an end to the conflict, as it seeks to address the causes and deep roots of a conflict, but does conflict management method lead to the same outcome and how and why? Researchers have seen that through the method of conflict management many obstacles that make the Palestinian-Israeli conflict seem intractable will be overcome by altering the repertoire of the psychosocial infrastructure of parties to the conflict towards each other, as a first step in changing the relationship between them. Such a change remains a necessary condition for advancing the peace process, as it focuses on halting the violence associated with the conflict (Bar-Tal 2007). Likewise, the achievement of shifts in positions of the parties to the conflict will make them closer to each other and create a real opportunity to renew the peace efforts (Menkel-Meadow and Nutenko 2009).

However, other scholars are of the view that, in light of the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating experience, the methodology and clear objectives of conflict management can lead in an adverse way to the escalation of the conflict and make access to a solution seem elusive (Ben-Artzi et al. 2015). This is because the philosophy of conflict management is based on addressing the manifestations of the conflict and its side effects, not on the basis of addressing the underlying causes that have led to the conflict (Azem 2012b).

Arguably, the replacement of a method dealing with the conflict does not include a guarantee that will ease the access to a solution, and it may even accumulate impediments that prevent it. Rather than speeding up the creation of conditions for a solution, the change in method may be a reason for postponing such access indefinitely. Unfortunately, conflict management does not address the root causes of the conflict but attempts to control its rhythm and prevent it from going towards escalation or violence.

Hence, examining whether this substitution facilitates the chances of a solution to the conflict or pushes it into a stalemate is necessary. It is also necessary to determine whether it will lead to the demise of the Israeli occupation, which is the most visible manifestation of the conflict or to the normalization of its presence as a dominant party.

#### **1.2 The Concept of Conflict**

It is of importance to identify the concept of conflict and to analyze its connotations as a preliminary step necessitated by the attempts aimed at analyzing and understanding the Palestinian-Israeli conflict and identifying the reasons for the failure of the negotiating processes that have tried to find a solution. Identifying the concept is a step that will help to remove the conceptual ambiguities and the dark areas that accompany both the subject of conflict and the negotiating process.

The Dictionary of Civil and Political Terminology defines conflict as "A social position that arises when two or more parties seek to achieve opposite or inappropriate objectives, and the conflict in international relations can be observed in the form of a war as a threat and as an actual reality" (Al-Jabali et al. 2014: 98). Lopez and Stohl (1989) opine that the concept of conflict represents a position in which two or more parties have incompatible objectives, values or interests, to the point at which a party's decision about this situation is very bad, given the challenges that face a decision maker in light of the differing interests with the other party. This suggests that the concept of conflict reflects a result imposed by the incompatibility of structures and interests between the parties and leads to the creation of positional responses that reflect the main political problems (Badawi 1997).

According to Galtung (2000: 13), the principal founder the Oslo-based of Peace Research Institute, "When goals are incompatible a contradiction, an issue, is born". Contradiction in the visions and the interests of parties to the conflict comprises, along with their attitudes and behavior, a conflict triangle through which Galtung has tried to elaborate on how the life-cycle of a conflict operates.

Burton (1993: 11) opines that "conflict describes a relationship in which each party perceives the other's goals, values, interests, or behavior as antithetical to its own. Conflict embraces, first, the relationships between parties to a dispute, their perceptions and misperceptions, their shared and separate values, and their goals and motivations; and second, the political, social, economic, and institutional environment in which the dispute takes place".

Wright (1951 as cited in Al-khazendar 2014) points out that sometimes conflict is used to refer to a collision or contradiction in principles, concepts, emotions or

objectives, or claim to entities or identities, and sometimes refers to the process of settling these contradictions. In his turn, Kazanský (2015: 44) noted that the conflict in its political dimension refers to "the clash of political subjects, who struggle to enforce their interests and goals usually aimed at gaining, controlling and distributing power".

Gallo (2013) explained that conflict is a special pattern of order, through which complications emerge across a range of unrelated elements. The foregoing confirms that conflict is not an exception in the context of human relations but is a major and natural component of such relationships (Aggestam et al. 2015; Burton 1993; Lederach 2014) and that the emergence of conflict is not spontaneous but has obvious premises, reasons, and motives. Therefore, if the parties want to end the conflict, then attention must be paid to those premises, reasons, and motives, and they must all be treated. Otherwise, the efforts aimed at resolving the conflict will remain useless.

In fact, failure to take these into account will adversely affect the chances of success in reaching a solution to a conflict, give the conflict more complications and make a conflict less likely to respond to the efforts at a solution. Additionally, the images and backgrounds of the conflict are multiple and that a conflict can involve all those images at once, which makes attempts at finding a solution seems not easy, as that the obstacles that may prevent reaching a solution take many forms.

Along the same lines, the multiple sources of a conflict that involve clashing material interests, diversity in identity, ideological variance, stereotypes and prejudices require a deep understanding of conflict so as to deal with it effectively (Lyamouri-Bajja et al. 2012).

#### **1.3** The Concept of Conflict Resolution

Those interested in conflict issues have begun to think in a way that helps avert the ravages and destructive consequences of war by focusing on efforts to find solutions to existing conflicts, where it has been found that the cost of an armed clash between two forces might be costly for both as well as cause damage to other parties given the lack of capacity of the parties to end the conflict in a conclusive way. The means that there is no victor in such a war and that no one will be spared from its horrors.

Consequently, the parties to the conflict find themselves motivated to adopt mechanisms that help in finding solutions for their common interests. Wallensteen (2015) believes that the solution to a conflict would mean joint work among the parties to solve a central problem that creates enmity between them, and one requirement for a solution is the acceptance of each party of the existence and the survival of the other party, accompanied by mutually stopping all acts of violence between them. Burton (1990), Fisher (1990), Kriesberg (1992) consider that conflict resolution is a political process through which the parties to the conflict aim at eliminating the reasons that create a state of mismatch between them and make their objectives and interests appear contradictory so that the process creates a state of compatibility between them. Conflict resolution aims not merely to resolve the immediate social conflict, but also to recognize insights into the dynamic nature of the problem and thus to address the root causes and sources of a conflict (Burton 1993). The purpose of this approach is to help the parties involved in the conflict to understand the needs of the other parties and the sources of conflict perspectives and to work to find radical solutions to issues (Al-Smadi 2009–2010). In other words, the efforts to resolve the conflict aim at finding a consensus between the parties, so that a compromise is reached based on sharing the benefits and costs between them and that the solution does not favor one party over the other.

Laue (1991) opines that a solution to a conflict between the two parties become a reality if the agreement has realized their common interests and needs and when the agreement is not based on compromises of the values of any party because the basic values of the parties are non-negotiable. In the meantime, the parties should not retreat from the solution reached, even if they have the power to do so in the post-settlement phase. This is a situation that reflects the willingness of the parties to reach a solution and then, in turn, their willingness to create the conditions and reasons necessary for their sustainability.

According to Miller (2005: 25), conflict resolution is "a variety of approaches aimed at terminating conflicts through the constructive solving of problems, distinct from management or transformation of conflict". From his turn, (Manning n.d.) articulates that the concept of conflict resolution has many interpretations, but fundamentally the process is aimed at resolving or ending the conflict that can include multiple methods, including the use of violence and war. Pillar (1983 as cited in Hoglund 2001) considers that using military means in a conflict would contribute to the acceleration of the process of reaching a solution, as that the use of violence can force the parties to the conflict to avert the high costs of its use. Therefore, the parties start to determine whether to continue a violent clash between them or whether reaching a reasonable, non-violent solution is more profitable. In the same vein, Gallo (2013: 156) pointed out an "important fact that is too often disregarded is that a conflict does not end simply when violence is stopped or when a satisfactory compromise between the parties is signed".

The above mentioned shed more light on the nature of the reactions between and among rival groups or states and show variance in alternatives that they could use against each other. Chomsky (1994) elaborated that conditions in international relations are too varied to the extent to which it is not easy to find a theory to apply uniformly. This harmonizes with the vision that considers that the discipline of International Relations suffers from an obvious lack of theoretical agreements – a "divided discipline" (Holsti 1985).

The matter provides motivation for debate on conflict in the context of international relations and for an exploration on how that influences the efforts aimed at searching for a solution to a conflict. There are two main approaches in international relations, the Realist and the Idealist. Realism as a trend of thought focuses on the competitive and conflictual nature of international relations (Mcglichey et al. 2017).

Consequently, international relations will reflect "a struggle for power and a quest for survival, which results in a condition of permanent conflict between States without any possibility of evolution or progress" (Fernandes 2016–2017: 14). A situation that appears to be acceptable by most political scientists and diplomats. Therefore, it seems to be easy for a state to adopt a centric vision towards world affairs (Nye and Keohane 1971).

On the other hand, "idealism considers it possible to build a world of peaceful coexistence, prosperity and well-being, achieved through cooperation and based on values and aspirations shared by humans" (Fernandes 2016–2017: 14). Accordingly, when the efforts aimed at finding a solution to a conflict face an obstacle, this indicates that the idealism perspective is totally excluded from consideration.

The foregoing brings a focus on the differing philosophies of the concept of conflict resolution by affirming that the mechanisms for a solution are not limited to merely peaceful means. This proposition runs counter to the initial impression that may come forward when thinking about the meaning of the concept. If that is the case, then using only peaceful means to reach a solution to the conflict may be a reason for not reaching it in principle because one of the tools that may facilitate access to a solution is essentially neutralized. Hence, this proposal offers a vision that links between the use of coarse means and the goal of reaching a solution to a conflict.

However, some researchers believe that conflict resolution constitutes a substitute for the risks and threats involved in an unsolved conflict. Therefore, this method focuses heavily on the means and mechanisms that help accomplish that solution. Similarly, Hill (1982) elaborates that the concept of conflict resolution as a special knowledge field emerged during the 1950s and 1960s, which witnessed the peak of the Cold War between the polarized international forces representing the United States and the Soviet Union, when the potential for nuclear conflict between those forces seemed to threaten the survival of humanity.

In light of the above mentioned, the risks associated with conflict may push the parties towards a search for solutions. Thus, the chances of finding a solution to a conflict are linked to the degree of risks involved by an open conflict. This makes the costs of the alternative opportunity for conflict resolution have a role in determining the fate of the conflict and whether it would be geared towards resolution or deadlock. The parties to the conflict will be interested in reaching serious solutions if the risks associated with the continuation of the conflict are high, so as to avoid the damage they may cause. For that reason, if a party to a conflict does not face high risks in the event that the conflict remains open, then reaching a solution seems precluded. In the case of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, the Israelis seemingly do not face high risks in case of not reaching a solution to the conflict, and this is why Israel is lagging in reaching a solution.

Regarding how it is possible to resolve a conflict, Lederach (2014) calls for transforming a conflict, claiming that conflict transformation represents a crucial step that paves the way for finding a solution. Additionally, he elaborates that the approach aims at understanding the core of the conflict as embedded in the broad context not in isolation. The matter requires promoting constructive change between the rivalries through dialogue (Lederach 2014). Conflict transformation focuses on reducing violence and preventing the escalation of a conflict, while seeking to find just solutions that satisfy both the parties to a conflict. "On the other hand, this approach goes beyond negotiating solutions and builds toward something new" (Lederach 2014: 36).

#### 1.4 The Concept of Conflict Management

Conflict management method has emerged in the context of attempts to deal with the conflict and to control its movement considering the failure of the conflict resolution method to reach the wanted solution that gains the acceptance of the relevant parties. Tanner (2000) finds that the concept of conflict management is relevant to the limitation, mitigation and containment of a conflict but without seeking to resolve it necessarily either. Zartman (1997b) sees that conflict management means the elimination of violence, the relevant acts, and leave dealing with the conflict to the political level only.

Others have shown that the conflict management means the ability to recognize the conflict and deal with it in such a way as to mitigate tension in the feelings of the parties involved, strengthening of relationships among them, and providing opportunities for the growth of creativity and joint action in a way that reduces the opportunities for conflict to be occur. It also includes addressing the conflicts that emerge and containing the armed confrontation through appropriate interventions (U.S. Department of Interior 2010).

The purpose of the conflict management approach is to assist the parties to a conflict to reach a situation in which each party refrains from engaging in conduct characterized by violence and hostility towards the other side. It does not focus on the sources of conflict, as much as on the behavior of the parties to the conflict, and usually, this method is used to reduce the degree of hostility and complications in the conduct of the parties to a conflict, so that an appropriate point is reached to target the sources and themes of conflict, such as the pursuit of a ceasefire between two parties fighting (Al-Smadi 2009–2010). Conflict management aims to use non-violent means to deal with a conflict through compromise or through third-party assistance that seeks to facilitate access to settlement or resolution (Manning n.d.).

Conflict management has three patterns. One of these is unilateral actions, which are carried out by one of the parties to the conflict and through which one party tries to prevent the other party from initiating the escalation of violence. Second, joint action in terms of formal and non-formal conduct by both parties to prevent or control violence through joint coordination. Finally, there is the external role. This belongs to a third party comprising a super-power, an active regional player, or international organizations seeking to intervene in the conflict to prevent violence or work to control it (Bar-Siman-Tov 2007).

Conflict management deals with the realities of the conflict as it is, and in the way that these realities are imposed on the ground. It does not seek to alter or influence these realities to facilitate a solution. Instead, it tries to normalize the relationship between the parties to the conflict and to reduce the levels of violence or the possibility for armed clashes between them to the lowest degree. This is done in the context of the recognition of the sovereignty of such facts, which means that no serious steps are being taken to end the conflict because conflict management is not basically trying to approach the causes that led to its eruption, does not try to study or analyze the conflict to better understand it, or how it should be addressed. Therefore, conflict management seeks to maintain and not to exceed certain levels of a conflict, which indicates that its work is aimed at preventing the development of the conflict by keeping it as dictated by the facts present on the ground. This is an endeavor that Aggestam and Björkdahl (2011) have described as a freezing of conflict, whereby a state of tranquility and peace is created, but without actions to resolve the conflict.

Accordingly, and because a feeling exists that the concept of conflict management today reveals certain topics related to conflict and not all of them, and in light of how the topic is actually dealt with. Azem (2012a) calls for a redefining of conflict management terminology, launched from a viewpoint that theoretical bases of mechanisms dealing with conflict including conflict management are absent. Additionally, besides the common connotations of conflict management like the containment of a conflict, preventing its violent manifestations, settling it, and resolving it, a real need exists to develop the concept to encompasses other domains like escalating a conflict, creating it, complicating it, and preventing it to be resolved as partial topics involved by conflict management.

#### **1.5 Patterns of Conflict**

Conflicts take different forms and vary according to their nature and characteristics (Bar-Tal 2007). This means that several levels and types of conflict can exist. Therefore, the multiplicity of conflicts that exist require the presence of multiplicity in criteria needed to classify them. Scholars have classified the conflicts into two categories according to their responsiveness to the negotiating of a solution. The first of which has been seen as easy and simple (conflicts of interests). The second is that one party views the other party as difficult and complicated (conflicts of values and basic needs). Accordingly, the first category responds to negotiated solutions, given its nature, and the second as a deep-rooted is considered non-negotiable because of its thorny nature (Burton 1993; Durojaye et al. 2013). These requires taking into account the nature of a conflict, as well as its particular characteristics while trying to analyze and assess it. According to Galtung (2009: 125), Analysts usually commit a major mistake when considering only the first type of conflict. "If the task of conflict analysis is to help understand the future better, then, conflict analysis has to include both types".

#### 1.5.1 Conflicts of Interests

This type of conflict responds to efforts aimed at reaching a negotiated solution based on the rule of sharing the gains and costs between the parties to the conflict. This is aided by the fact that the nature of the conflict serves the objective of reaching an appropriate solution, as it revolves around material sources (Druckman 2005) such as a border conflict between two existing entities, or their respective quotas in bilateral projects, the amount and volume of interests or gains they have in common issues, or the quest for power-sharing in a region.

Fisher et al. (1991) call for focusing on interests, not on positions in negotiations. A tactic, that eases the reach for a solution since interests are easy to be negotiated because the conflict is not about one of the major values such as the land, identity or existence.

In the view of Al-Jabiri (2015), a conflict of interests seems reasonable, meaning that its causes can be identified, absorbed and addressed. And therefore, arguably this type of conflict responds to rational treatment efforts by responding to the minimum requirements of the balance of interests.

Nye and Keohane (1971) opine that normal conflicts about resources, interests, and goals are negotiable and that a compromise is possible within the existing balance of power between the parties. "This assumption is met in situations where the conflict is over distributable resources, the actors are nation-states, and there is a third party with adequate leverage over the disputants" (Rouhana and Kelman 1994: 157–158).

Therefore, the effectiveness of negotiation as a method of conflict resolution seems to be linked to a range of conditions and determinants. This points out that a negotiated solution is not inevitable but remains a potential option for use under specific conditions and without affirmative imperative results (Lewicki et al. 2010; Pfetsch 2007; Zartman 1997a, b). In another way, shortcomings accompany negotiation as a potential option regarding issues that are negotiable in nature how if the question under discussion does not respond to the principle of negotiations basically. Accordingly, Zartman (1995) articulated that most conflicts today tend to defy the negotiating solution.

#### 1.5.2 Conflicts of Values and Basic Needs

A conflict of values and basic needs is a pattern of a zero-sum conflict or an existential conflict in which the scramble between two parties revolves around their own existence, so that the presence of one of them will inevitably be at the expense of the existence of the other party, and such conflicts cannot be resolved by negotiation because they belong to the category of conflicts of basic values and needs (Galtung 2000; Kelman 2007). Coleman and Deutsch (2015: 67) elaborated that "Issues that seem vitally important to a person such as one's identity, security, selfesteem, or reputation often are experienced as being non-negotiable". This is because it is unreason-

able to subject the issues of existence, identity and the future of a group of people to fragmentation, sharing, and bargaining, as a reflection of the concept of negotiation.

Such a pattern of conflict is called a pure conflict, which occurs when the parties to the conflict espouse rigid positions and reject waivers of what they consider to be vital interests, a situation in which opportunities to meet the common interests of the parties disappear (Alfredson and Cungu 2008). In such conflicts, the scramble reaches the highest level of contradiction between them, which is reflected in the nature of the conflict on the one hand, and the chances of a negotiated solution on the other. It is difficult for this type of conflict to respond to efforts that aim at finding a solution because the protagonists do not have a willingness to bargain around the issues of existence, values and basic needs (Druckman 2005).

Needless to say, understanding why and how a conflict might occur cannot occur without also understanding the deprivation of the basic needs of a group of people that they are seeking to fulfill. Galtung (2000) opines that some conflicts occur because of the threat to basic human needs, and for that reason they are non-negotiable. He considers them different from place to place, and over time. Accordingly, Galtung divided them into four classes: survival, well-being, identity, and freedom.

"One line of thought that slowly developed in the 1970s arose from the revival of interest in the idea, originally developed by Abraham Maslow, that all human individuals possessed a number of basic needs and that the frustration of these needs would lead to conflicting behavior and even to organized (or disorganized) violence" (Avruch and Mitchell 2013). According to Abu-Nimer (2013), a basic human-needs framework provides vital principles that ease the achievement of a solution in intractable deep-rooted conflicts. The framework relies on the vision that the deprivation of human needs causes the eruption of a conflict. Consequently, reaching a solution requires to engage in a process that leads to fulfilling the basic human needs of the parties to the conflict equally.

In view of this, conflicts on values and basic needs are considered intractable (Bar-Tal 2007; Burgess and Burgess 2016). In fact, many factors influence a conflict and determine to extent to which it may respond to the efforts seeking to resolve it (Ross 2014). Identifying and highlighting these factors help to better understand conflict trends and provides researchers with reliable tools to analyze a conflict better and to enable them to anticipate the tracks of the negotiating process aiming at finding a solution to.

#### 1.6 Conclusion

This chapter drew a conceptual road map that would pave the way to analyze the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, an inevitable step to approach the Palestinian-Israeli conflict and the relevant negotiating process correctly. On that basis, the analysis of the concept of conflict was a necessary entry point for identifying the reality of the conflict for the case at hand, its nature and the grounds for its resurrection, and then identifying the most feasible approaches to addressing it. In the same vein,

the definition and characterization of the concepts of conflict resolution and conflict management were a complement to the effort to build the aforementioned map. This highlighted both the conflict resolution and conflict management methodologies and identified the differences between them, the nature of their work, and their role in the efforts aimed at resolving the conflict or at least to mitigate its manifestations. All of which will help to explore the methodology most suited to the efforts aimed at finding a solution to a conflict. The concept of conflict resolution concerns endeavors to find a solution for the causes of the conflict, which means that the effort used by this methodology addressed the deep-rooted nature of the conflict.

Accordingly, these efforts lead mostly to a solution to a conflict if the parties have the will and goodwill. In contrast, the conflict management methodology is preoccupied with addressing the manifestations of conflict and trying to prevent it from worsening and going towards more violence or an escalation. The analysis of the patterns of conflict helped to identify the nature of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict in light of the extrapolation of multiple types of conflict. Accordingly, it becomes easier to understand whether the nature of the conflict will facilitate a response to the negotiating solution.

#### References

- Abu-Nimer, M. (2013). Basic human needs: Bridging the gap between theory and practice. In K. Avruch & C. Mitchell (Eds.), *Conflict resolution and human needs linking theory and practice* (pp. 165–185). London, New York: Routledge.
- Aggestam, K. (1999). *Reframing and resolving conflict: Israeli-Palestinian negotiations* 1988–1998. Ph.D. thesis, Lund University.
- Aggestam, K., & Björkdahl, A. (2011). Just peace postponed: Unending peace processes & frozen conflicts. JAD-PbP working paper series no. 10. Researchgate. Retrieved May 29, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2sVlUcU.
- Aggestam, K., Cristiano, F., & Strömbom, L. (2015). Towards agonistic peacebuilding? Exploring the antagonism–agonism nexus in the Middle East peace process. *Third World Quarterly*, 36(9), 1736–1753.
- Alfredson, T., & Cungu, A. (2008). Negotiation theory and practice a review of literature. FAO Policy learning programme, APYSOL. Retrieved December 23, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2p5mRM6.
- Al-Jabali, S., Yousef, A., & Rahhal, O., (Eds.). (2014). *Qamoos al-mustalahat al-madaniyat wal-siyasiyat* (Arabic) [Dictionary of sivil and political terminology]. Nablus: Human Rights and Democracy Information Centre.
- Al-Jabiri, M. A'. (2015). Badalan min siraa' al-hadarat: Tawazon al-masalih (Arabic) [Rather than clash of civilizations: Balance of interests]. Retrieved July 11, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2SvnyMu.
- Al-khazendar, S. I. (2014). *Idarat al-siraa'at wa fad al-nizaa'at itar nathari* (Arabic) [Conflict management and dispute resolution a theoretical framework]. Al-Doha: Al-jazeera Studies Centre, The Arab Centre for Science (Nashiroon).
- Al-Smadi, Z. (2009–2010). *Hal al-nizaa'at noskhat monaqahat li-l-manthour al-ordoni* (Arabic) [Disputes resolution a revised version of the Jordanian perspective]. United Nations University for Peace.
- Avruch, K., & Mitchell, C. (2013). Introduction: Basic human needs in theory and practice. In K. Avruch & C. Mitchell (Eds.), *Conflict resolution and human needs linking theory and practice* (pp. 1–18). London, New York: Routledge.

- Azem, A. J. (2012a). Ea'adat taa'reef mostalah edarat al-siraa': morajaa'at nakdiyat (Arabic) [Redefining the terminology of conflict management: A critical reviewing]. *Arabic Magazine* for Political Science (35), 67–87.
- Azem, A. J. (2012b). Tahweel al-siraa': iqtirab gayr sifri li-idarat nizaa'at ma baa'd al-thawrat al-Arabiyat (Arabic) [Conflict transformation: "Non-zero approach" to managing conflicts post-Arab revolutions]. Retrieved November 11, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2EIOuDu.
- Badawi, M. (1997). Mafhoom al-siraa': Dirasat fi al-osool al-nathariyat li-l-asbab wa-l-anwaa (Arabic) [The concept of conflict: A study in theoretical origins of causes and types] Assiut University. Journal of Future Studies (3), 35–58.
- Barqawi, A., & Katchanovski, I. (2013). The failure of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict leaders, domestic factors and international factors. Retrieved November 27, 2015, from https://bit.ly/ 2sDO3Fg.
- Bar-Siman-Tov, Y. (2007). Dialectic between conflict management and conflict resolution. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.), *The Israeli-Palestinian conflict: From conflict resolution to conflict management* (pp. 9–40). Jerusalem: The Jerusalem Institute for Israel Studies, Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bar-Tal, D. (2007). Socio psychological foundations of intractable conflicts. American Behavioral Scientist, 50(11), 1430–1453.
- Ben-Artzi, R., Cristal, M., & Kopelman, S. (2015). Conceptualization conflict management and conflict resolution as distinct negotiation processes in the enduring Israeli-Palestinian negotiation. *Negotiation and Conflict Management Research*, 8(1), 56–63.
- Burgess, H., & Burgess, G. M. (2016). What are intractable conflicts? The beyond intractability project. Colorado: University of Colorado. Retrieved May 4, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2FtSczN.
- Burton, J. W. (1990). Conflict: Resolution and prevention. New York: Macmillan.
- Burton, J. W. (1993). *Conflict resolution as a political system*. Retrieved November 8, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2JTJT3L.
- Chomsky, N. (1994). World orders old and new. London: Pluto Press.
- Coleman, P. T., & Deutsch, M. (2015). *Motron Deutsch: Major texts on peace psychology*. New York: The Morton Deutsch International Centre for Cooperation and Conflict Resolution, Springer.
- Druckman, D. (2005). Conflict escalation and negotiation a turning points analysis. In W. Zartman & G. O. Faure (Eds.), *Escalation and negotiation in international conflicts* (pp. 185–212). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Durojaye, O. B., Oluwadare, A. J., & Jarikre, M. E. (2013). *Fundamentals of peace studies and conflict resolution*. Nigeria: National Open University of Nigeria.
- Fernandes, V. R. (2016–2017). Idealism and realism in international relations: An ontological debate, Observare Universidade Autónoma de Lisboa, *e-Journal of International Relations*, 7(2), 14–25. Retrieved October 30, 2018, from https://bit.ly/2PBd2Xp.
- Fisher, R. J. (1990). *The social psychology of intergroup and international conflict resolution*. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Fisher, R., Ury, W., & Paton, B. (Ed.). (1991). *Getting to yes: Negotiating agreement without giving in* (2nd ed.). Random House Business Books.
- Gallo, G. (2013). Conflict theory, complexity and system approach. Systems Research and Behavioral Science, 30(2), 156–175.
- Galtung, J. (2000). *Conflict transformation by peaceful means, the transcend method*. United Nations. Retrieved November 11, 2018, from https://bit.ly/20j5jYD.
- Galtung, J. (2009). *Theories of conflict definitions, dimensions, negations, formations*. Retrieved October 29, 2018, from https://bit.ly/2zM7H4U.
- Hill, B. J. (1982). An Analysis of conflict resolution techniques: From problem-solving workshops to theory. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 26(1), 109–138.
- Hoglund, K. (2001). Violence—Catalyst or obstacle to conflict resolution, seven propositions concerning the effect of violence on peace negotiation. The paper was prepared for the Research Seminar, Department of Peace and Conflict Research, Uppsala University, Uppsala. Retrieved July 12, 2015, from https://bit.ly/2hMVd7P.

- Holsti, K. (1985). *The dividing discipline: Hegemony and diversity in international theory*. Boston: Allen & Unwin.
- Kazanský, R. (2015). The theory of conflicts. Banská Bystrica: Matej Bel University.
- Kelman, H. C. (2005). Interactive problem-solving in the Israeli-Palestinian case: Past contributions and present challenges. In R. J. Fisher (Ed.), *Paving the way: Contributions of interactive conflict resolution to peacemaking* (pp. 41–64). New York: Lexington Books.
- Kelman, H. C. (2007). The Israeli-Palestinian peace process and its vicissitudes, insights from attitude theory. *American Psychologist*, 62(4), 287–303.
- Kriesberg, L. (1992). International conflict resolution. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Kriesberg, L. (2009). Changing conflict asymmetries constructively. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict*, 2(1), 4–22.
- Laue, J. H. (1991). Contributions of the emerging field of conflict resolution. In W. S. Thompson & K. M. Jensen (Eds.), *Approaches to peace: An intellectual map* (pp. 300–332). Washington: U.S. Institute for Peace.
- Lederach, J. P. (2014). *The little book of conflict transformation*. New York: Good Books in an imprint of Skyhorse Publishing. Retrieved November 15, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2PNh3Yb.
- Lewicki, R. J., Barry, B., & Saunders, D. M. (2010). Negotiation (6th ed.). McGraw Hill (Irwin).
- Lopez, G. A., & Stohl, M. S. (1989). *International relations: contemporary theory and practice*. Washington: Congressional Quarterly Press.
- Lyamouri-Bajja, N., Genneby, N., Markosyan, R., & Ohana, Y. (Ed.). (2012). Youth transforming conflict. Council of Europe Publishing. Retrieved November 5, 2018, from https://bit.ly/ 2MNCzrQ.
- Maiese, M. (2003). *Negotiation*. Beyond intractability. Retrieved October 6, 2016, from https://bit. ly/2HrvZD0.
- Manning, C. (n.d). *Defining conflict resolution*. Retrieved May 14, 2015, from https://bit.ly/ 2wwH8he.
- Matz, D. (2003). Trying to understand the Taba talks. *Palestine-Israel Journal of Politics, Economic, and Culture, 10*(3). Retrieved September 18, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2LHxDmz.
- Mcglichey, S., Walters, R., & Scheinpflug, C. (Eds.). (2017). *International relations theory*. Pristol, England. Retrieved November 12, 2018, from https://bit.ly/2OR1euL.
- Menkel-Meadow, C., & Nutenko, I. (2009). The next generation: Creating new peace process in the Middle East. *Negotiation Journal*, 25, 569–586.
- Miller, C. E. (2005). A glossary of terms and concepts in peace and conflict studies (2nd ed.). Addis Ababa: University for peace.
- Nye, J. S., & Keohane, O. K. (1971). Transnational relations and world politics: An introduction. *International Organization*, 25(3), 329–349.
- Pfetsch, F. R. (2007). Negotiating political conflicts. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Pundak, R. (2001). From Oslo to Taba: What went rong. Survival, 43(3), 31-46.
- Ross, L. (2014). Barriers to agreement in the asymmetric Israeli-Palestinian conflict. *Dynamics of Asymmetric Conflict*, 7(2–3), 120–136.
- Rouhana, N., & Kelman, H. C. (1994). Promoting joint thinking in international conflicts: An Israeli-Palestinian continuing workshop. *Journal of Social Issues*, *50*(1), 157–178.
- Rynhold, J. (2008). The failure of the Oslo process: Inherently flawed or flawed implementation. Ramat Gan, Israel: The Begin-Sadat Center for Strategic Studies, Bar-Ilan University. Retrieved November 5, 2015, from https://bit.ly/2MpUTXx.
- Shlaim, A. (2016). The rise and fall of the Oslo peace process. In L. Fawcette (Ed.), *International relations of the Middle East* (4th ed., pp. 285–303). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Tanner, F. (2000). Conflict prevention and conflict resolution: Limits of multilateralism. Article. International Review of the Red Cross (839). Retrieved December 12, 2018, from https://bit.ly/ 2V3Pzw8.
- U.S. Department of Interior Office of Collaborative Action and Dispute Resolution, Getting to the Core of Conflict I: Conflict Management Skills. (2010). USA: CHI LLC. Retrieved January 3, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2yn3AxK.

- Wallensteen, P. (2015). Understandig conflict resolution (4th ed.). Los Angles, London, New Delhi, Singapore, Washington, DC: Sage.
- Yehoshua, A. B. (2011, April 26). Why the Israeli-Palestinian conflict refuses to be resolve. *Haaretz*. Retrieved June 12, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2LtwsXz.
- Zartman, I. W. (1995). Dynamics and constraints in negotiations in internal conflicts. In I. W. Zartman (Ed.), *Elusive peace: Negotiating an end to civil wars* (pp. 3–29). Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.
- Zartman, I. W. (1997a). *The structuralist dilemma in negotiation*. Research Group in International Security. Retrieved October 23, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2xVYg5f.
- Zartman, I. W. (1997b). Introduction: Towards the resolution of international conflicts. In W. I. Zartman & J. L. Rasmussen (Eds.), *Peacemaking in international conflict: Methods & techniques* (pp. 3–22). Washington: United States Institute of Peace Press.

## Chapter 2 Diagnosing the Palestinian-Israeli Conflict and an Analysis of the Relevant Negotiating Process



Abstract Previous studies have focused on the nature of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict and have considered that nature as an input to analyze the deadlock that has accompanied the negotiating track. They have also considered the conflict in question as being intractable given its nature. Hence, highlighting the specific characteristics of the conflict have reflected that point of view. Many scholars have articulated that the Palestinian-Israeli conflict is existential one, which means that installing one of the parties to the conflict on the disputed land includes eliminating the possibility of the other party's presence on it. Therefore, the conflict in Palestine reflects the battle of identity, destiny, and land. Such conflicts are characterized by the asymmetry between the two parties because one is a colonial state, while the other is a people under colonial rule. Asymmetry takes several dimensions that prevent reaching a reasonable solution to such a conflict, a situation that directly leads to the prolongation of the conflict as well as the prolongation of the negotiating process seeking a solution. On the other hand, the lack of confidence among the parties to the conflict is one of the most striking manifestations of this pattern of conflict.

**Keywords** Intractable conflict · Asymmetric conflict · Prolong negotiating-process

### 2.1 Analysis of the Nature of the Palestinian-Israeli Conflict

Previous studies have sought to explore the reasons led negotiating efforts into deadlock and have attempted to identify the factors that have influenced the outcome of the negotiating process. Many scholars opine that the Palestinian-Israeli conflict is protracted, and it seems difficult to reach a solution, as both parties to the conflict face deep-rooted conflicts, and the overt hostility between the parties shows its effects in the form of clear violence (Bar-Tal 2007; Coleman et al. 2007; Frosh and Wolvfeld 2007; Hammack 2009; Kriesberg 2015; Nagar and Maoz 2015; Shlaim 2016).

Handelman (2011) consider that the Palestinian-Israeli conflict embodies a phenomenon that has obvious complexities, does not respond to traditional ways of resolving conflict and includes deep-rooted and overlapping issues, which

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019

A. Muala, *Unlocking the Palestinian-Israeli Negotiations*, SpringerBriefs in Political Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8794-4\_2

makes the prediction of the efficacy of political solution initiatives seems elusive. The Palestinian-Israeli negotiations have been inconclusive for 20 years, noted (Gold-enberg 2015). Albin (1997: 49) stressed that the well-known global approaches and strategies of resolving conflicts "are not effective in all circumstances, especially ones that have sharp divisions between the conflicting parties". The Palestinian-Israeli conflict is resisting efforts to find a solution as it represents an unprecedented conflict in human history (Yehoshua 2011, April 26).

The studies about the Palestinian-Israeli negotiations focused on revealing the nature of the conflict and its relationship to the efforts aimed at finding a solution. Some have attributed the failure of the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating process to the seemingly intractable and difficult nature of the conflict that resists solution efforts (Bar-Siman-Tov 2010). From their pointed of view, Coleman et al. (2007) pointed out that intractable conflicts are fundamentally resistant to responding to efforts to resolve them, as they seem unsolvable.

The concept of intractability that accompanies the conflict belongs to the works of, Kriesberg (1998) who has proposed a criterion for differentiating between conflicts that respond to the efforts seeking for a solution and those that defy those efforts. The conflicts that defy these efforts are characterized by the following.

- 1. First, the conflict spans for an extended period of time, at least one generation of people, and the parties to the conflict share a high degree of hostility and hatred.
- 2. Second, the conflict is characterized by violence and includes events that lead to harm and death for many members of the conflict community.
- 3. Third, the conflict does not respond to efforts to find a solution, as the parties to the conflict do not expect to gain a peaceful solution easily.
- 4. Fourth, many sources possessed by the parties to the conflict are consumed, and they are engaged in attempts to discredit each other.

#### 2.2 Characteristics of the Palestinian-Israeli Conflict

Previous studies have shown a range of attributes of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict that have not helped in reaching a negotiated solution.

#### 2.2.1 Existential Conflict

The conflict in Palestine reflects a pattern of existential conflict in which each side claims ownership of the same land, and, in such conflicts, the identity and survival of one of the parties represent a direct threat to the identity and existence of the other party, and these inputs lead to a zero-sum conflict not only with regard to the land but also with regard to identity and existence (Kelman 2007). It is, therefore, difficult to find solutions for such conflicts because the issues of conflict are related to identity

and existence are not governed by the principles of sharing and bargaining, which is precisely the philosophy of negotiation.

According to Al-Magazi (2014) the Palestinian-Israeli conflict is different about other conflicts because it represents a struggle for existence, as Jews around the world seek to replace another people who have been living on their lands for thousands of years. The intention was the establishment of a national homeland for Jews which led to a diaspora for Palestinians by exploiting the international situation in which most countries of the Arab world, including Palestine, were under the control of the Western colonial powers.

Kelman (1999) reported that this trend resulted in the emergence of a situation in which two different parties claimed ownership of the Palestinian Territory, namely, the Palestinian national movement and the Zionist movement. Each party considers that the acceptance of the identity of the other party constitutes a negation of selfidentity and the recognition of one's state makes the allegations of the other party on the same land weak, so claims relating to the same land are directly and intrinsically related to the national survival of the parties to the conflict.

The Zionist project is existential in nature. This necessarily means that it suffers from problems of existence and survival such that chronic nature of its goals represents the main engine of all its thinking and movement strategies (Al-Muneer 2011). At the moment, this philosophy reflects the way in which Israel deals with the suggested solutions to its conflict with the Palestinians. Israel is used to refusing to offer any concessions that the negotiating process requires, as Israel has no desire to make any changes with the current fait accompli, which may affect the equation of its absolute control over the Palestinian territory. This is clearly linked to the Israeli existence in accordance with the Israeli perspective itself.

#### 2.2.2 Asymmetric Conflict

The asymmetry between the parties in the conflict arises according to the different nature of the other, sometimes, one party represents an occupying power and the other represents the occupied party. Such a status casts overshadow the ability of one party to obtain power sources against the other. Gallo and Marzano (2009) believe that conflicts resulting from the emergence of colonial movements are necessarily structurally imbalanced. The relationship between the parties is that of the colonizer with the colonized; in such a case the conflict is manifested by the existence of a party representing a colonial power, while the other is a people, a political movement or a national liberation organization.

The concept of asymmetric conflicts has become a leading theory of conflict in the post-cold-war era, in which intra-State wars have emerged between different ethnic groups, and, in fact, manifest asymmetry characterizes several of today's conflicts (Gallo and Marzano 2009). Asymmetric conflicts take three forms. These are power asymmetry between the parties to the conflict, strategic asymmetry that reflects the substantial difference in strategies for dealing with conflict by the parties,

and finally structural asymmetry that reveals the nature of their respective legal status. Usually, intractable conflicts involve more than one form of asymmetry (Gallo and Marzano 2009). Clearly, such forms of asymmetry are present in the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, which add further complexities to the situation and compound the negative repercussions of the negotiated efforts to resolve the conflict.

#### 2.2.2.1 Power Asymmetry

Inequality in power occurs when a power imbalance is present between the parties to a conflict, a situation that is common in conflicts, which are called asymmetric conflicts. Those types occur when the sides of the conflict are actually asymmetrical (Dunne et al. 2006). In such a case one of them is very strong, while the other is very weak. It is a situation that usually coincides with the existence of other cases of asymmetry (Gallo and Marzano 2009).

#### 2.2.2.2 Strategic Asymmetry

The strategic asymmetry between the parties to the conflict occurs when their strategic approaches or tactical positions on the conflict vary (Gallo and Marzano 2009). The Israeli side considers that the conflict in Palestine is an open one and has not yet reached its end. Therefore, Israel does not take any actions that would hinder the pursuit of its objectives in the future, employs all sources of power and mobilizes them in a Battle of Destiny. It does not link the achievement of goals or successes with a generation or a specific leadership and adopts a long-term policy with careful planning and gradualism in steps.

Many indications suggest that Israel considers taking over Palestine as a phase in a larger project, which means that it has not yet exhausted the objectives of the Zionist project in the region. Does that mean that its engagement in the negotiation process aims at reaching a settlement on parts of the Palestinian territory, which puts a definitive end to its expansionist ambitions towards a Grand Israel? Or, does it use negotiation as a mean to manage the conflict and as an instrument to achieve what it has so far failed to achieve through other methods to impose its hegemony over the region? There are many statements and positions showing that the leaders of Israel consider that they are still on the pathway to achieving their great expansionist goals and that they have been determined to achieve these goals. The most important indicator of this is the notion that Israel has not yet finished its war of independence.

Israel considers that the war that took place in 1948, seizing about 78% of the historical land of Palestine and displacing 60% of the Palestinian people and destroying more than 400 Palestinian villages and cities (Ahmed 2009), is a special national War of Independence for the Jewish people. After seizing the rest of Palestine in 1967, Israel still considers itself not to have finished that war. Israeli Prime Minister Ariel Sharon (2001–2006) considered Israel's response to the second Palestinian Intifada (2000–2004) to be part of the context of Israel's War of independence (Saleh 2011). Tizini (2003, October 21) confirmed that Sharon had committed all forms of repression, murder, and displacement, as well as the demolition of homes and the assassinations of Palestinian intifada activists, thereby attaining what Israel's strategic theorists consider "new steps on the path of the War of Independence," which began at the end of the 1940s. Therefore, the practices of the Israeli army aimed at the reoccupation of certain areas in the West Bank and Gaza Strip should be understood in the context of the completion of that war.

Following renewed clashes between Palestinians and Israelis in 2000, then deputy mayor of Jerusalem, Meron Benvenisti made it clear that the conflict between them was considered important and stressed that the 1948 war was not over. Moshe Ya'alon, the deputy chief of staff of the Israeli army, said that the fierce confrontations between the Palestinian and Israeli side (after the year 2000) represented the second half of the 1948 war, noting that the solution to what is happening may be similar to what happened in 1948 (Renhart 2014). The claim that Israel has not ended its war of independence follows a number of positions and indicators, including a failure to establish a constitution for the state, the non-delimitation of state borders, and continuing the dream of a Grand Israel.

It is remarkable that Israel has not adopted a written constitution for itself (The Knesset 2014), as have most countries of the world. This is perhaps because the nature of the Israeli entity and the circumstances of its creation and the desire of the Jews to expand the conquest of new Arab lands that precludes the drafting of a constitution for the emerging entity.

After the 1948 Palestinians catastrophe, and the emergence of Israel on the scene it was supposed that Israel has to adopt a constitution like others, but, at that time, the Prime Minister, David Ben-Gurion, refused to establish a constitution for Israel (Palestinian News & Information Agency 2018). Diskin (2006) justified that refusal by reminding that with the divided nature of the Israeli society that it is difficult to establish a consensus among the divergent groups on a constitution. If such a justification is really true, then, establishing a state according to the same circumstances seems more difficult; hence, is this why Israel succeeded in establishing a state and failed to draw a constitution? Diskin (2006: 2) added, "In the Israeli context, decisions have to be made regarding the essence of the state as the national home of the Jewish people, the rights of its minorities and questions of religion and state, which some maintain have been the principal factors responsible for the delay in passing the constitution".

Palestinians opine that, if a constitution were to be created, then property rights, especially land ownership, would have to be defined and because most of the land before 1948 was in the name of Palestinians (not a minority but the indigenous inhabitants) these lands might have to be returned to them if a constitution existed. Additionally, the existence of a constitution might lead to drawing the borders of the Zionist entity, which contradicts with perceptions of the greater Israel that transcends the historical borders of Palestine (Palestinian News & Information Agency 2018).

El-Messiri (1999) went on to consider that the nature of the Israeli entity as a colonial substitution entity would explain the absence of a constitution so far in Israel. He added that Menachem Pigen had said: "If Israel was Palestine then the

Zionism would lose its right as a national liberation movement for the Jewish people and became a process of colonization and rape", so Israel has not yet set its borders, a situation that keeps the door open to Israel for further expansion at the expense of the land of others (El-Messiri 1999: 16).

As for the state border, Israeli politicians consider it premature to talk about the borders of the State, which has not yet been finalized. David Ben-Gurion, "believed that if there was no defined border between Israel and the rest of Palestine, then all of Palestine could be considered open territory, available for conquest" (Fincham 2014). For that, "it was his intention to capture territory outside the Partition Plan borders and include it in the state" (Kleiman 1999).

In his turn, Yitzhak Rabin, the father of the Oslo Israeli accord, has addressed his vision on this issue in a speech to the Knesset a month before his assassination in 1995. While asking the Knesset to approve the treaty he signed with the Palestinians at the White House saying "the country's security border will be on the River Jordan, there will be no return to the 4 June 1967 lines and new blocs of settlements will be built in (West Bank) and the Gaza Strip" (Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs 1995).

Benjamin Netanyahu, the current Israeli Prime Minister tells Aipac that Israel's 1967 borders are in defensible (The Guardian 2011, May 24) in a gesture that he refuses to get back to these borders. Obviously, Netanyahu adopts the terminology invented by Israeli strategic thinkers who always believed that the Jewish state could not protect its future without the existence of the defensible borders (Allon 1976). Needless to say, such a term is elastic and undefined. Therefore, what is considered defensible borders now might become indefensible a couple of years later according to the Israeli perspective.

The idea of a Grand Israel stretching from the Nile to the Euphrates has prevailed in the thoughts of leaders of the Zionist movement over time, and the idea has shifted over that time to a strategic goal that Israel is seeking to implement in stages. This would occur through, inter alia, the use of expansionist warfare, accompanied by the forcible push of the indigenous inhabitants of the region to the outside, and the forced addition of the world's Jews into the state, and the enactment of a group of the basic laws governing the affairs of an emerging entity that help to avoid defining the state borders, so that the work to achieve Grand Israel is not hindered (El-Messiri 1999).

In the same vein, the leaders of Israel have begun show reticence to act on the fate of any part of the occupied territories under their domination in the context of a settlement with the Palestinians. Podeh (2014) articulated that one reason why Israeli Prime Minister Sharon rejected the Arab peace initiative put forward by the Arab Summit held in Beirut in 2002 was that accepting it would force him to cede parts of the land of Grand Israel. This was an important indication that the determinants of Israeli policy are not only based on current moment inputs but also considers the strategic dimensions of the goals to be achieved.

Regarding the Palestinian leaders, their vision towards the conflict is quite different. This was more evident in the stage of searching for a negotiated solution in which the conduct of the political leadership seemed in a race with time to achieve any agreement regardless of its content (Nofal 2004). This contrasts with the cyclical nature of a conflict extended through sequential generations (Handelman 2011; Yehoshua 2011, April 26), which means that it is unwise to work for a definitive end to it at a time when the Palestinians and Arabs are in the worst situation.

That policy was evident by the acceptance of a low ceiling offers because of the imbalance of power between the two parties, which meant the absence of strategic objectives, a comprehensive vision, and long-term plans. In return, the goal of maintaining the PLO's survival was a top priority for the Palestinian leadership as it struggles against Israel (Al-Khateeb 2008). While this objective is important, it becomes deficient and detrimental, if its realization is linked to the bargaining of the rights of the Palestinian people.

The sought to keep the survival of the PLO, and linking of the political achievement with its leadership formed a constraint on the content of the possible solutions to the conflict. As a result, the leadership of the PLO has not been to refrain from adopting steps and decisions that would legitimize the existence of the Israeli occupation, giving it the right to remain on the Palestinian territory and hinder efforts to continue struggling against it in the future.

#### 2.2.2.3 Structural Asymmetry

Structural asymmetry usually occurs when an asymmetry is present in the structure (legal form) between the parties to a conflict. Structural asymmetry is at the heart of a dispute between two parties, which makes the situation very peculiar and different from other asymmetries. The scramble in conflicts that are classified as asymmetric revolves around the nature of the relationship between the adversaries, in which the efforts of one of them aim at preserving the current form of the relationship while the efforts of the other party focus on changing it. In such case, one of the parties to the conflict is a governmental institution, while the other is a non-governmental organization, as is often the case in conflicts aimed at confronting colonialism (Gallo and Marzano 2009).

The manifestations of the structural asymmetry between the parties to the conflict are reflected in the situation under consideration in the following items:

First, the negotiation of the case in question is not between two states, but between a state and a national liberation movement, the PLO (Bar-Siman-Tov 2007). The negotiating tracks and outcomes will thus be governed by this equation, as the political conflict between adversaries does not imply charity and an inclination to surrender, and the stronger party is, therefore, unwilling to make negotiated concessions unless the other party possesses a power to force him to do so.

Second, the Palestinian negotiator does not have a fully fledged political entity in advance, which makes the negotiating process useless, particularly if it is to establish this entity via negotiations, a situation that is very similar to trying to put the cart in front of the horse. In a way, this questions the feasibility of such a negotiating process.

Third, a Palestinian negotiator must negotiate the future of a land that is fully controlled by the Israeli occupation. In such a case, the mission of a Palestinian negotiator will be difficult to achieve. Accordingly, Tzoreff (2010) queries: Why is the conflict in Palestine so different? Why does it seem difficult to apply the successful Egyptian and Jordanian model to the Palestinian model? He adds: The reason for this is because both have clearly defined lands, while Palestinians do not own the land belonging to them. They have no sovereignty which helps them to stand as a peer in front of the Israelis, but they are in the process of trying to get rid of the occupation rule.

Gallo and Marzano (2009: 40) articulated that:

From 1948 onwards, Israel has been a state, with its own territory, internationally recognized borders, a clear political agenda, a defined foreign policy, and a powerful and well-organized army. On the contrary, the Palestinians had to fight hard to move from a situation of non-existence - if not as refugees – to the recognition of being a nation, with their own right to a national state.

Discussing asymmetry between the parties to the conflict is considered an important diagnostic development because it highlights one of the most important reasons causing the impasse of the negotiations and expands the framework used in evaluating the negotiating process.

Obviously, conflicts involving structural asymmetry have been deeply studied, but it is rare that the asymmetry has been used as a theoretical framework for the analysis of the characteristics and mechanisms of this type of conflict. The exception of which is the contribution of Johan Gultong of value, which focused on his vision of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict. The contribution still retains its great value (Gallo and Marzano 2009).

#### 2.2.3 Protracted Conflict and the Negotiating Process

Edward Azar, a theorist in conflict issues, was the first to use the terminology "protracted social conflicts". To him, the critical factor in protracted conflicts was "the prolonged and often violent struggle by communal groups for such basic needs as security, recognition and acceptance, fair access to political institutions, and economic participation" (Ramsbotham et al. 2011: 99).

One of the most striking features of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, as well as its own negotiating experience, was that it has spanned an extended period of time. Yehoshua (2011, April 26) elaborated that the conflict is one of the longest-standing conflicts in the modern era, stretching for more than 130 years. The protracted negotiation process is characterized by its failure to achieve peace between the two parties to the negotiating process has been a methodology followed by the strong party who desires to manipulate with negotiations and deviate from its real purpose (Slater 2002).

In such a case exploring whether the prolongation of negotiations is natural or intentional and drawing lessons from it are important. Al-Jarbawi (2014) considers

that Israel is not interested in reaching a negotiated solution and instead uses the negotiations to cover up its desire to gain the time necessary to impose the desired facts on the ground. In turn, Cohen (2005) opined that the long period of conflict would give another dimension to its intractable nature. In such a case, the party who feels that the time serves his goals tends to employ the time factor as a source of force against the competing party who feels the shortness of time because it is not being in his favor. Therefore, tactics of delaying and procrastination are common in such cases (Zakay and Fleisig 2010).

#### 2.2.4 Lack of Trust Between the Parties to the Conflict

The lack of trust between the parties to the conflict is one impediment to progress in the international negotiating process (Al-A' asfoor 2006). Previous studies, therefore, have discussed the issue during the process of evaluating the Palestinian-Israeli negotiations, noting that the situation of incompatibility and lack of confidence between the parties to the conflict has negatively affected the outcome of the negotiations and has contributed to the consolidation of the existing negotiating deadlock (Bar-Siman-Tov 2007; Goldenberg 2015). Obviously, this issue needs further discussion based on the fact that the natural situation among the parties involved in the conflict includes a lack harmony and low confidence and that negotiation is mostly conducted between enemies or adversaries not only between friends. Yet, a response to the logic and requirements of negotiation remains possible with the presence of correct bases of negotiation.

Therefore, it seems that linking the negotiation deadlock with the lack of trust between the negotiating parties is unconvincing. No doubt, trust-building between the parties to the conflict might facilitate the efforts seeking a solution and, in some ways will affect positively the directions of the negotiating process. However, this does not mean that the existence of the trust is an inevitable need for the successful political process (Bar-Siman-Tov 2007). Therefore, a lack of trust between the parties to the conflict does not mean that a solution cannot be achieved (Fells 2012).

Thompson considered that negotiations are not as much a matter of trust as a strategic issue (Avruch 2006). This points out that, while trust is vital and as is how it facilitates the achievement of consensus between the parties to the negotiations, trust is not the decisive element for reaching an agreement. Enemies negotiate while negotiation does not mean that the hostility between each other is not removed and, without hostility and conflict of interest, people will not negotiate. However, finding the appropriate condition for creating a state of trust between the parties to the intractable, protracted, and deep conflict seems difficult and unavailable (Babbitt and Hampson 2011; Kelman 2005). Lewicki and Stevenson (1997) have offered a key point regarding this matter, articulating that trust plays a vital role if the goal is to achieve a single deal.

Previous studies, which dealt with the issue of trust between the parties to negotiations, have not addressed it in a balanced way; they have mentioned trust as if both parties bore a lack of trust between them equally. However, analyzing the issue in a more explicit way and identifying the party responsible for the decline in the level of trust between them is important. The level of trust between the parties can be linked to the amount of their commitment to the rules of negotiation and to their responsibilities the conventions stipulated. These form a criterion that measures the extent to which the obligations of the parties help in finding an acceptable level of trust between them.

Anderson (2014) asserts that the commitment in the responsibilities and rules of negotiation is one salient principle of negotiation. Shlaim (2013, September 12) explained that the Oslo process did not face a failure from the beginning but confronted it later because Israel under the leadership of the Likud had reneged on the obligations that were had entailed in accordance with the agreement. Shlaim added: "I thought the peace accords 20 years ago could work, but Israel used them as cover for its colonial project in Palestine".

Kriesberg (2015) considers that failure to apply the clauses of the agreement between the parties to the conflict will cause a case of misunderstanding between them, stating that the two parties have not respected the obligations deriving from them. But, Pundak (2001), one of the Israeli architects of the Oslo Accords, made it clear that the Israeli violations of the agreement were far greater and more substantial than the Palestinian violations, pointing out that the breach took place under Netanyahu's reign (1996–1999). In his turn, Machover (2012) articulated that, before the assassination of Yitzhak Rabin in November 1995, Israel has been stalling with respect to its obligations provided in the agreement, and no further withdrawal from the occupied territory was carried out. After Rabin's assassination, the Oslo agreement became a dead letter.

Clearly, the Palestinian side was committed to its responsibilities for the signing of the agreement and until the arrival of the Netanyahu government in 1996 that intentionally breached it substantially, which makes the continued Palestinians onesided commitment meaningless. Palestinian violations of the spirit of the agreement according to Israeli researchers were minor in comparison with Israeli violations. In contrast, Israel has violated the agreement from its very approval so that the negotiating process reached a stalemate. This makes it unfair to hold both parties equal in responsibility for the lack of trust between them.

Former US Secretary of State James A. Baker III said the biggest obstacle to a peaceful solution of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict was represented by Israeli settlements, whose activities have had continued momentum even at the height of the negotiating process (WILPF 2001). This issue has nothing to do with the nature of the conflict, but with the conduct, intentions and strategies of one of its parties, which requires examining the negative impact of that on trust-building between the parties to the conflict, and how this is reflected in a deadlock in the negotiating process.

At subsequent negotiating stages, Israel did not respect its obligations under the Quartet Roadmap for Israeli-Palestinian Peacemaking of 2003 articulated by the United Nations, the United States, the European Union, and Russia while the Palestinian side committed itself to all that it was required to do in accordance with the same plan, including stopping the resistance against the Israeli occupation (Barghouti

2011). This was confirmed by the fact that Israel had placed a dozen conditions for resuming negotiations with the Palestinians according to under that plan (Aggestam and Bjorkdahl 2011).

If the maturity of the parties to the conflict and their readiness for a negotiated solution helps in building bridges of trust between them, Brom (2013), one of Israel's foremost authorities on national security affairs, pointed out that the Israeli party, in particular, was the least mature in accepting such a solution. Goldenberg (2015) articulated that a number of representatives of European countries have made a clear stand on several occasions that Israel will increasingly face political and economic isolation if it is unable to find a solution to its conflict with the Palestinians. In a salient indication of Israel's responsibility for the stalemate in the negotiating process from the European point of view.

Despite the foregoing, Goldenberg (2015) considered that the lack of trust between the parties had been reflected in absence of the will necessary for both parties to take decisive and painful steps for a solution. It was supposed that Goldenberg takes into account the developments in relations between the parties to the conflict in light of the Palestinian negotiator's recognition of Israel's right to exist on what constitutes 78% of the Palestine land, while accepting negotiating on the remaining 22% as Barghouti (2011) has elaborated rather than holding both of them equal responsibility for lack of trust among them.

Obviously, the PLO's recognition of Israel was exceptional and should have paved the way for breaking the deadlock in the relationship between the two parties through creating confidence between them, but it did not prevent a deadlock in the negotiating process. Waage (2005) had a different opinion in diagnosing the interactions of the situation and its repercussions on the level of trust between the two parties: Israel is the strongest, has a clear national security agenda and does not desire to make many concessions. The Palestinians, although they had a strong vision for the state on future, they are the weaker party and were therefore prepared to make important compromises to avoid further marginalization of the PLO and the Palestinian cause.

In contrast, the Israeli side refrained from recognizing the right of the Palestinian people to exist on part of the land. In this regard, the absence of such information while analyzing the negotiating process, as well as assessing of trust relationships between the parties can lead to false conclusions. Anyhow, Goldenberg (2015: 19) himself considers that "Israeli settlement activity in the West Bank will continue to undermine confidence between the two sides until there is a final status agreement".

In light of the characteristics of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, the conflict can be described as a zero-sum game and, as a reflection of this, the Palestinian concessions will not meet the minimum demands of the Israelis, and Israeli concessions will not meet also the minimum demands of the Palestinians, Therefore, each party seeks to employ the most possible means and international support to win the conflict (Bar-Tal and Salomon 2006). These are requirements necessitated by the nature of the conflict, which is based on exile and fixation (negation of the other and self-fixation), and not on the basis of a search for common interests that promote the parties to meet each other. The nature of the conflict in question constitutes the most important impediment to a negotiated solution.

Bar-Siman-Tov (2010) believes that these impediments take many forms, strategic, structural, and psychological. Strategic impediments are primarily due to security risks contained in the peacemaking process, which requires both parties to the conflict to make concrete concessions. The structural impediments are shaped by internal political structures of the negotiating parties in that the political elites, parties, group of interests and organizations may reject the peace process for political, ideological, or security reasons, as negotiating process is believed to threaten the national interests. Finally, psychological inhibitions are of cognitive and emotional dimensions, centered around the historical narrative and the collective memory of the parties to the conflict trying to prevent any change in the belief system and attitudes towards the other side or towards the conflict.

The above-mentioned experts and researchers have discussed some characteristics of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict and, by highlighting its nature, have tried to draw an image that helps in understanding the impasse that has accompanied the attempts to find a negotiated solution, an effort that is undoubtedly estimated. However, the nature of the conflict should not have been relied upon alone to analyze the negotiating process. Needless to say, many factors have influenced the negotiating process as well as the outcomes expected from them. So the exclusion of these factors from the analytical framework, which aims at assessing the negotiating process will affect the results of the evaluation process negatively. Accordingly, the nature of these results will be reflected on the recommendations that have been suggested by previous studies to reflect on the negotiating process impasse.

Obviously, the nature of a conflict clearly affects the outcome of the negotiating process that seeks to find a solution (Jackson 2000). Separating the complexities of conflict from the outcomes of the negotiating process is indeed difficult (Al-Jarbawi 2014). But, on the other hand, it is unreasonable to analyze the outcomes of the negotiating process from only the standpoint of the complexities involved in the conflict.

The focus of previous studies on the nature of the conflict and its linkage to the state of negotiating deadlock has led to the development of specific perceptions of how to overcome that situation. In fact, a deadlock in a conflict is one of its most salient manifestations and characteristics, but the problem is inherently related to the conflict itself, not merely to its characteristics or nature. These details are of importance because they prevent focusing on searching for a solution to the negotiating impasse as a stand-alone dilemma rather than for seeking to address the conflict itself and the reasons that led to its resurrection. That was a systematic trap that previous studies failed to avoid, as will be seen in the following pages.

It is necessary to note that the intractable nature of the conflict, or the complexities involved, are not exceptional, but are natural and foreseeable in the context of the conflict situation. Conflicts are inherently complex and intractable, depend on multiple factors, and vary in their magnitudes from one case to another (Burgess and Burgess 2003). Therefore, the characterizations of a conflict as intractable and the search to eliminate the manifestations of intractability are not a precedent in the field of conflict analysis, nor do they help to break the deadlock.
## 2.3 Conclusion

This chapter identified the nature of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict. Accordingly, highlighting the characteristics of the conflict constituted a suitable entry point to analyze the negotiating experience through which the parties have tried to find a solution to the conflict, and so the nature of the conflict has formed the starting point for assessing the negotiating process from the standpoint of previous studies.

Previous studies have considered that the conflict in question is an existential one, meaning that the essence of the conflict is related to the self-existence of at least one of its parties. It is a situation that makes attempts to search for a negotiated solution to the conflict seem elusive because the subordination of the core values of a group of people to the principles of negotiation and compromise seems unacceptable to the parties to the conflict.

This type of conflict is characterized by an asymmetry between its parties, one of which is strong while the other is weak, and this asymmetry is reflected in multiple images and forms, including power asymmetry, strategic asymmetry, and structural asymmetry, all of which create obstacles to attempts to reach an acceptable solution to the conflict.

These impediments contribute in adding new dimensions to the nature of the conflict like the prolongation of both the conflict and the accompanying negotiating experience. This will enhance the presence of the manifestations that do not help to respond to the negotiating solutions, and the low levels of confidence between the parties to the conflict will worsen the situation.

## References

- Aggestam, K., & Björkdahl, A. (2011). Just peace postponed: Unending peace processes & frozen conflicts (JAD-PbP Working Paper Series No. 10). Researchgate. Retrieved May 29, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2sVlUcU.
- Ahmed, R. S. (2009). Dirasat wathaiqiyat a'n harb 1948 allati lam tantahi baa'd (Arabic) [A documentary study on the 1948 war that is not yet over]. Palestine Today. Retrieved December 3, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2yk7jNt.
- Al-A'asfoor, S. (2006). Asaleeb al-tafawud al-tijari al-dawli (Arabic) [International trade negotiation methods]. Arab Planning Institute of Kuwait, 5(53), 2–14.
- Albin, C. (1997). Negotiating intractable conflicts: On the future of Jerusalem. *Cooperation and Conflict*, *32*(1), 29–77.
- Al-Jarbawi, A. (2014). Al-maazaq al-Falasteeni Ibtia'ad al-hadaf wanzilaq al-masarat (Arabic) [Palestinian predicament distancing target and sliding paths]. Journal of Palestine Studies, 25(99), 29–37.
- Al-Khateeb, G. (2008). Azmat rahinat am istinfath dawr tareekhi (Arabic) [A current crisis or losing a historical role]. Journal of Palestine Studies, 19(76), 43–50.
- Allon, Y. (1976). Israel: The case for defensible borders. *Foreign Affairs*. Retrieved November 16, 2018, from https://fam.ag/2DVelu7.
- Al-Magazi, A. F. (2014). Al-a'amil al-dimografi wa dawroho fi al-siraa' al-Falastini al-Israeli (Arabic) [Demography factor and its role in the Palestinian-Israeli conflict]. Forward-looking statistical study. Strategic visions. Retrieved March, 12, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2sBSmAo.

- Al-Muneer, M. (2011). Tarajoa' al-mashrooa' al-Sohuoni al-Amreeki wa-l-sinariu al-rajeh fi altaa'amol maa'ho (Arabic) [Degradation of the Zionist-American project and the most Likely scenario in dealing with it]. Retrieved May 22, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2Ljkn7c.
- Anderson, B. (2014). Al-tafawud al-faa'al maharat al-tafawud al-ihtirafi (Arabic) [Effective negotiation: Professional negotiation skills] (Trans.). Cairo: Al-Hilal International Library.
- Avruch, K. (2006). Toward an expanded "Canon" of negotiation theory: Identity, ideological, and values-based conflict and the need for a new heuristic. *Marquette Law Review*, 89(3), 567–582. Article 4.
- Babbitt, E., & Hampson, F. O. (2011). Conflict resolution as a field of inquiry practice informing theory. *International Studies Review*, 13(1), 46–57.
- Barghouti, I. (2011). Palestinian-Israeli negotiations: An objective in themselves. *The International Spectator: Italian Journal of International Affairs*, 26(1), 15–23.
- Bar-Siman-Tov, Y. (2007). Dialectic between conflict management and conflict resolution. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.). *The Israeli-Palestinian conflict: From conflict resolution to conflict management* (pp. 9–40). Jerusalem: The Jerusalem Institute for Israel Studies: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bar-Siman-Tov, Y. (2010). Barriers to conflict resolution. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.), Barriers to peace in the Israeli-Palestinian conflict (pp. 15–27). Jerusalem: Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung Israel, The Jerusalem Institute for Israel Studies, Study no. 406.
- Bar-Tal, D. (2007). Socio psychological foundations of intractable conflicts. American Behavioral Scientist, 50(11), 1430–1453.
- Bar-Tal, D., & Salomon, G. (2006). Narratives of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict: Evolvement, contents, functions and consequences. Retrieved March 15, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2JogGg5.
- Brom, S. (2013). Itifaq Oslo wa-l-salam al-mostaheel araa wa taqweemat Israeeliyat: A'amaliyat Oslo fi-l-meezan baa'd 20 a'aman (Arabic) [Oslo agreement and impossible peace Israeli views and calendars: The Oslo process in the balance after 20 years] (Y. Al-Batal, Trans.). Beirut: The Institute for Palestine Studies, no. 7. Retrieved September 2, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2xi1BZP.
- Burgess, H., & Burgess, G. M. (2003). *What are intractable conflicts? The beyond intractability project*. Colorado: University of Colorado. Retrieved December, 23, 2016 from http://www. beyondintractability.org/essay/meaning-intractability. Accessed 23 December 2016.
- Cohen, S. (2005). Intractability and the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. In C. A. Crocker, F. O. Hampson,
   & P. R. Aall (Eds.), *Grasping the nettle: Analyzing cases of intractable conflict* (pp. 343–355).
   Washington: United States Institute of Peace Press.
- Coleman, P. T., Vallacher, R. R., Nowak, A., & Bui-Wrzosinska, L. (2007). Intractable conflict as an attractor: A dynamical systems approach to conflict escalation and intractability. *American Behavioral Scientist*, 50(11), 1454–1475.
- Diskin, A. (2006). Constitution of the state of Israel. The institute for Zionist Strategies Jerusalem, Sivan 57. Retrieved November 11, 2018, from https://bit.ly/2S8yuj9.
- Dunne, J. P., García-Alonso, M. D. C., Levine, P., & Smith, R. P. (2006). Managing asymmetric conflict. Oxford Economic Papers, 58(2), 183–208. Oxford University Press. Retrieved June, 3, 2017 from https://doi.org/10.1093/oep/.
- El-Messiri, A. (1999). Mawsoa'at al-Yahood wa-l-Yahoodiyat wa-l-Sohuniyat (Arabic) [Encyclopedia of Jews, Judaism and Zionism] (Vol. 7). Israel the Zionist Settler. Cairo: Al-Shorooq House.
- Fells, R. (2012). *Effective negotiation from research to result* (2nd ed.). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Fincham, D. G. (2014). The hidden documents that reveal the true borders of Israel and Palestine (updated). Retrieved November 12, 2018, from https://bit.ly/2FEkMn5.
- Frosh, P., & Wolfsfeld, G. (2007). Imagination: News discourse, nationhood and civil society. *Media, Culture and Society*, 29(1), 105–129.
- Gallo, G., & Marzano, A. (2009). The dynamics of asymmetric conflicts: The Israeli-Palestinian case. *The Journal of Conflict Studies*, 29, 33–49.
- Goldenberg, I. (2015). *Lessons from the 2013–2014* Israeli-*Palestinian final status negotiations*. Washington: Center for a New America Security. Retrieved November 9, 2016, from https://bit. ly/2xeA1y9.

- Hammack, P. (2009). Exploring the reproduction of conflict through narrative: israeli youth motivated to participate in a coexistence program. *Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology*, 15(1), 49–74.
- Handelman, S. (2011). Conflict and peacemaking in Israel-Palestine: Theory and application. London, New York: Routledge.
- Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs. (1995). Address to the Knesset by Prime Minister Rabin on the Israel-Palestinian Interim Agreement. Retrieved November 18, 2018, from https://bit.ly/ 2R92mvV.
- Jackson, R. (2000). Successful negotiation in international violent conflict. *Journal of Peace Research*, 37(3), 323–343.
- Kelman, H. C. (1999). Experience from 30 years of action research on the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. In K. P. Spillmann & A. Wenger (Eds.), *Zeitgeschichtliche Hintergründe aktueller Konflikte VII:* Zürcher Beiträge zur Sicherheitspolitik und Konfliktforschung (Vol. 54, pp. 173–197).
- Kelman, H. C. (2005). Building trust among enemies: The central challenge for international conflict resolution. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 29(6), 639–650.
- Kelman, H. C. (2007). The Israeli-Palestinian peace process and its vicissitudes, insights from attitude theory. *American Psychologist*, 62(4), 287–303.
- Kleiman, S. (1999). *The State of Israel declares independence*. Israel Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Retrieved November 14, 2018, from https://bit.ly/2FzQ3ay.
- Kriesberg, L. (1998). Intractable conflicts. In E. Weiner (Ed.), *The handbook of interethnic coexistence* (pp. 332–342). New York: Continuum.
- Kriesberg, L. (2015). Negotiating conflict transformations. In M. Galluccio (Ed.), Handbook of international negotiation (pp. 109–122). Switzerland: Springer.
- Lewicki, R. J., & Stevenson, M. A. (1997). Trust development in negotiation. Business and Professional Ethics Journal, 16(1), 99–132.
- Machover, M. (2012). Taswiyat al-nizaa' al-Israeli al-Falasteeni wijhat nather Ishtirakiyat (Arabic) [Settlement of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict a socialist viewpoint] (N. Nader, Trans.). Journal of Palestine Studies, 23(90), 156–173.
- Nagar, R., & Maoz, I. (2015). Predicting Jewish-Israeli recognition of Palestinian pain and suffering. *The Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 61(2), 372–397.
- Nofal, M. (2004). Arafat baa'd Madreed min khanadiq al-tatarrof ila maydan al-waqia'iyat (Arabic) [Arafat after Madrid from the trenches of extremism to the field of realism]. Journal of Palestine Studies, 15(60–61), 38–66.
- Palestinian News & Info Agency. (2018). Retrieved November 14, 2018, from https://bit.ly/ 2Fz9ws4.
- Podeh, E. (2014). Israel and the Arab peace initiative 2002–2014 a plausible missed opportunity. *Middle East Journal*, 68(4), 584–603.
- Pundak, R. (2001). From Oslo to Taba: What went rong. Survival, 43(3), 31-46.
- Ramsbotham, O., Woodhouse, T., & Miall, H. (2011). *Contemporary conflict resolution* (3rd ed.). USA, UK: Polity Press.
- Renhart, T. (2014). Akatheb a'an al-Salam-Harb Barak wa Sharon did al-Falasteeniyeen (Arabic) [Lies about peace-The Barak-Sharon war against the Palestinians] (B. Hamdan, Rev.). Journal of Palestinian Affairs, 255. Retrieved March 6, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2t713EF.
- Saleh, M. M. (Ed.) (2011). Al-taqreer al-istrategy al-Falasteni lisanat 2010 (Arabic) [The strategic Palestinian report of 2010]. Beirut: Olive Centre for Studies and Consultations. Retrieved May 6, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2LRMKuu.
- Shlaim, A. (2013, September 12). It's now clear: The Oslo peace Accords were wrecked by Netanyahu's bad faith. *The Guardian*.
- Shlaim, A. (2016). The rise and fall of the Oslo peace process. In L. Fawcette (Ed.), *International relations of the Middle East* (4th ed., pp. 285–303). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Slater, J. (2002). Dirasat A'alamiyat, Inhiyar al-A'amaliyat al-Silmiyat al-Falasteeniyat al-Israeeliyat A'ayn al-Kalal (Arabic) [Global studies, the collapse of the Palestinian-Israeli peace process where is the defect]. Emirates Centre for Studies and Strategic Research, no. 45.

- The Guardian. (2011, May 24). Israel's 1967 borders indefensible, Netanyahu tells Aipac. Retrieved November 11, 2018, from https://bit.ly/2TAuQjT.
- The Knesset. (2014). *Constitution for Israel*. Retrieved November 14, 2018, from https://bit.ly/ 2Kmw5Ps.
- Tizini, T. (2003, October 26). *Sharon utabia' harb el-istiqlal* (Arabic) [Sharon continues the war of independence]. AL-Itihad.
- Tzoreff, Y. (2010). Barriers to resolution of the conflict with Israel-The Palestinian perspective. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.), *Barriers to peace in the Israeli-Palestinian conflict* (pp. 58–98). Jerusalem: Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung Israel, The Jerusalem Institute for Israel Studies, Study no. 406.
- Waage, H. H. (2005). Dawr al-Narwaij fi mofawadat al-sharq al-awsat: ma bayn dawlat qawiyat wa mohareb daa'eef (Arabic) [The role of Norway in the Middle East peace negotiations: Between strong state and weak fighter] (Omar Al-Aiubi, Trans.). Journal of Palestine Studies, 16(64), 23–43.
- Wakalat al-anbaa wal-maa'lomat al-Falasteeniat (n. d) (Arabic). [Palestinian News and Information Agency]. Retrieved November 26, 2018, from https://bit.ly/2Fz9ws4.
- WILPF. (2001). Actions to break the barriers to peace in the Middle East. International Seminar. Retrieved January, 19, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2sDFfPX.
- Yehoshua, A. B. (2011, April 26). Why the Israeli-Palestinian conflict refuses to be resolved. *Haaretz*.
- Zakay, D., & Fleisig, D. (2010). The time factor as a barrier to resolution of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.), *Barriers to peace in the Israeli-Palestinian conflict* (pp. 264–299). Jerusalem: Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung Israel, Jerusalem Institute for Israel Studies, Study no. 406.

## Chapter 3 Subjects Disregarded in the Literature of the Palestinian-Israeli Negotiations



**Abstract** This chapter sheds further light on other factors that influence the trajectory and outcomes of the negotiating process in a decisive manner in an attempt to broaden the analytical framework aiming at analyzing the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating experience. There are factors that have not been considered by previous studies while trying to assess the negotiating process in question. Therefore, they have lost an important opportunity, which would help to better analyze that experience. This chapter analyzes the impact of such a gap on the findings of the previous studies and how these were reflected on the nature of the recommendations they have made to break the negotiating deadlock. One of the most salient repercussions of that gap was the concentration on the manifestations of the conflict and not on the conflict itself, as well as the preoccupation with attempts to alter its nature rather than seeking an enduring solution.

Keywords Influencing factors · Analytical gap · Literature assessment

# 3.1 Other Factors Influencing the Outcomes of the Negotiating Process

There are vital factors and inputs that affect the trajectory and the outcomes of the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating process. The researcher observed that previous studies did not take all of them into account while attempting to assess and analyze this experience. And, therefore, they lost the opportunity to gain the benefits provided by such inputs for analyzing the negotiating experience under discussion. The following are some of these factors.

## 3.1.1 The Extent to Which the Negotiating Process Meets the Theoretical Rules of Negotiation

The theoretical rules of negotiation constitute an important frame of reference for the evaluation of negotiating experiences, by examining the extent to which they have responded to those rules. Negotiating literature that has matured in light of practical practice has set out a set of criteria for a negotiation to be effective, including but not limited to: negotiating requirements, negotiating principles and negotiating characteristics as well as articulating the foundations to be present for the success of the negotiating process (Anderson 2014; Robins 2010). Dajani (1996: 13) considers that "peace has its objective terms, conditions, and prerequisites, and unless these are recognized and fulfilled, any negotiating process or agreement is not only doomed to fail but may even produce entirely contrary results".

These standards and fundamentals have set out the roadmap that the negotiating process must follow to be meaningful. Considering that, exploring the extent to which those standards and foundations are present in the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating process is important. If they were found to be not present, this then will be one of the major reasons that have led to the failure of the negotiating process. Therefore, the presentation of the stumbled Palestinian-Israeli negotiating process on the theoretical frameworks for negotiation seems necessary, as long as the reasons that have led to the faltering of that experience must be sought.

Fisher et al. (1991) developed the concept of principled negotiations, through which they determined the limits of fruitful negotiations. This is a concept fit to be used as a normative basis for assessing the negotiating experience in question. The most salient idea of principled negotiation is the such called the best alternative to a negotiated agreement (BATNA). The idea stipulates that the negotiator should have perceptions in advance about the alternative to negotiation, and the ability should exist to activate this alternative at any time when the negotiation option does not seem to be fruitful. This perception plays an integral part of the concept and philosophy of negotiation. When a negotiator has no alternative to negotiation or is incapable of using that alternative when is needed, this means that the negotiating process operates outside the rational framework of negotiation.

The importance of the BATNA lies in the fact that it puts an end to concessions that can be made by a weaker party, or an end to the bullying, procrastination, and evasion used by the more powerful party, otherwise the negotiating process for the weaker party seems meaningless. Luecke (2003) articulated that a negotiator must determine the alternative to negotiation before engaging in the negotiating process, otherwise it is not known when a negotiated agreement is possible and when the moment is suitable for withdrawing from the negotiating process.

Fisher et al. (1991) think that the need to negotiate stems from the belief that what can be achieved through negotiation is beyond what can be achieved through nonnegotiation options. If the expected achievements through negotiation contradict with such an assumption, then the aggrieved party must reject any agreement that does not meet its acceptable limit for BATNA, and if a negotiator misses the perception that clearly identifies the best option for BATNA in advance, then he is, in fact, practicing blind negotiation.

The BATNA constitutes an entrance to evaluate the negotiating process and is also a source of strength for a negotiator if it is best used by expanding the circle of alternatives available to him. The importance of the best alternative does not depend on determining the acceptable minimum negotiated achievement but works to raise that limit (Fisher et al. 1991).

Thomas (1998) considers that the BATNA represents the most feasible guard against another party's aggressiveness and that party's propensity to adopt a harsh bargaining approach and provides protection against blind trust in adversaries. This makes negotiators aware of the best ways in which to act if negotiations fail or to obtain offers that represent less than the acceptable limit expressed by the preferred alternative option.

An effective BATNA helps to strengthen the negotiating position of a negotiator because it widens prospects for possible alternatives when the negotiating option fails to attain the low limit of the gains required (Thomas 1998). For instance, it was of importance that the Palestinian negotiator operate an intra-Palestinian dialogue to create a consensus in the Palestinian political spectrum about how to deal with the Israeli occupation in case of the failure of the negotiating process; such a step reflects an effective BATNA. That is the Palestinian negotiator was really needed to improve his negotiation's stance, and, because he failed in doing that, he had lost an opportunity to improve upon the expected outcomes of the negotiating process.

On the other hand, the weak BATNA which does not provide the negotiator with many force factors, will not be helpful, and then the opponent can obtain what he wants in case the BATNA is weak (Thomas 1998). The BATNA is one source of strength that a negotiator can acquire. Therefore, a weak negotiator can enhance his negotiating position by relying on a convincing BATNA. If the powerful negotiating party has elements of strength in specific areas, then the weak party can offset some of the power imbalance between them by developing an effective BATNA. This is a situation that allows the weak party to identify the appropriate moment to withdraw from the negotiating process if it seems fruitless or to obtain more offers from the other party (Brett 2007; Fisher et al. 1993).

Gosselin (2007) emphasizes that negotiating effectiveness depends primarily on available and affordable alternatives to negotiation, whether they are alternatives to saturation sources or alternatives to skills and negotiating behavior. Thompson (2008) asserts that the best way to improve the BATNA is to explore all available methods of work that can be used and when checked, the BATNA will be the key to the negotiating power of the negotiator.

The studies that have attempted to evaluate the stumbling Palestinian-Israeli negotiations experience did not analyze the abilities of the parties to the conflict, most notably the Palestinian party, to activate the BATNA, and did not monitor also the positive or negative influences of that on the outcomes of the negotiating process. However, the idea that states that negotiation might be unsuitable as an option for dealing with the conflict because of its particular nature have often been disregarded from the research and discussion. This indicates that the negotiation option was not subject to a deep discussion or whether it was suitable or not to be used to solve such a protracted intractable conflict in principle.

This deficiency has caused a rift in the methodology aimed at finding the root causes that led the negotiating process into a stalemate. Therefore, the negotiation option still the only considered option that used to seek a solution to the conflict. In the meantime, the call to replace the conflict resolution approach with the conflict management approach has used to cover the deficiencies of the previous studies methodology.

# 3.1.2 The Viability of the Palestinian-Israeli Conflict for Negotiated Solutions

General negotiating literature has articulated that some conflicts do not respond to negotiation efforts for special reasons (Conflict Research Consortium 1998). Many researchers are of the view that negotiations are fit enough to resolve only a few conflicts (Churchman 1995). Others are of the view that the success of negotiating processes depends primarily on the conflict's susceptibility to negotiation (Nierenberg and Calero 2010).

Deutsch (2003), Coleman and Deutsch (2015) consider that issues critical to people, such as identity, security, self-esteem, and reputation, seem to be non-negotiable. That underscores the importance of exploring whether the Palestinian-Israeli conflict is negotiable when trying to assess the situation. This criterion is a vital element in the analytical framework that should be used to assess the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating process; it helps to identify one of the most important reasons having a strong impact on the outcome of negotiations.

While previous studies have considered the Palestinian-Israeli conflict as thorny and existential, they did not link that with the possibility that the conflict would not be amenable to a negotiating solution due of that nature. That was clear because no one has proposed to consider the amenability of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict to negotiation as a key analytical input while assessing the negotiating process. Hence, the negotiating option remains present in the plans and perceptions that seek to find a resolution to the conflict. And, with the maintenance of negotiation as a viable option, the task of negotiations has been shifting from finding solutions to the conflict to changing the nature of conflict through adopting conflict management methodology.

## 3.1.3 The Impact of the Negotiating Strategies Used

Obviously, negotiating strategies clearly influence the outcome of the negotiating process (Kriesberg 2015). Therefore, one obstacle to reaching a negotiated solution relates to the nature of the negotiating strategies adopted. This will happen when both parties to the conflict or at least one of them use a negotiating strategy designed to achieve the goals and interests of only one party and ignore the interests of the other party (Michael 2010). Conversely, the idea of negotiation is based on reaching compromises accounting for the interests of both parties to the conflict (Wertheim 2002).

Bar-Siman-Tov (2010) thinks that one strategic impediment to the success of the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating process concerns the nature of the negotiating strategy adopted by the negotiating parties that are aimed at maximizing self-gains by managing a harsh bargaining process against the opponent and ignoring the need to build a viable peace process in the medium and long terms.

Jalal (2007), Robins (2010) distinguished between the negotiation approaches based on the zero-sum rule (distributive or competitive approach) and those aim at achieving mutual gains (integrative Approach). In the zero-sum approach, each party seeks to gain the most benefits, while it seeks to deprive its negotiating counterpart of similar gains. Conversely, the integrative approach is based on the joint gains of the parties to the conflict. They added that the negotiating methodologies reflect the negotiating strategy espoused by each party (Jalal 2007; Robins 2010).

Therefore, some negotiating processes take a long time without achieving their objectives, as one party adopts a strategy that does not lead to a negotiated solution. Multiple types of strategies can be used in the negotiating process, and each negotiating strategy necessarily reflects the nature of each party's negotiating purpose. Hence, through scrutinizing the negotiating strategies adopted by the parties, an awareness of them help determine whether either of them is concerned with reaching a negotiated agreement with the other party.

Anderson (2014) sees that the negotiating strategy reflects the broad vision and the overall plans of negotiations' track, so as to include the goals and objectives of the negotiation process, the interim plans and the negotiating policy used. The Israeli negotiators have adopted a negotiating strategy based on the conflict management approach, rather than on conflict resolution, which aims to weaken the opponent one step at a time. The net result is reaching the conviction that a solution should be accepted in the manner decided by Israeli negotiators (Saleh 2014).

There are two types of negotiation strategies that can be used according to the conceptual and theoretical literature of negotiation, which is the common interest strategy and the strategy of conflict approach.

#### 3.1.3.1 The Common Interest Strategy

This strategy has a set of specific strategies that are all aimed at building a situation in which the interests of the negotiating parties are considered, such as the integration strategy, the strategy for developing cooperation, and the strategy of deepening and broadening the relationship between them (Jalal 2007; Robins 2010). These strategies are based on the rule that all parties will achieve some degree of benefits according to a win/win approach. This will often lead to the success of the negotiating process

through the achievement of solutions acceptable to the negotiating parties. As long as the Palestinian-Israeli negotiations have reached a deadlock, it is easy, then, to infer that such negotiating strategy is excluded from the plans of negotiators, specifically the Israeli negotiator, as he is the powerful party controlling most negotiating inputs, as well as the land being negotiated around.

#### 3.1.3.2 The Strategy of Conflict Approach

This strategy also has a set of specific strategies that all reflect the competitive endeavors of the rival parties (Robins 2010). The Israeli negotiating technique will be analyzed considering those strategies. This is to explore the nature of the Israeli negotiating strategy and whether it is aimed at reaching mutually negotiated gains or is seeking to achieve only Israeli gains.

The Strategy of Exhaustion (Attrition)

This primarily aims at exhausting the opponent and draining him materially and psychologically so that he eventually accedes to his opponent's demands and accepts his opponent's own vision (Jalal 2007; Robins 2010). This strategy can be reflected through several levels, including depletion and draining the efforts of the other party to the greatest degree possible.

Depletion of the other party's time is done through the extension of the negotiating period, so that the negotiating process takes the longest possible time, without reaching reasonable results. In such cases, negotiations seem to be self-required to gain time and consume the strength factors of the opponent (Jalal 2007; Robins 2010). As a result, negotiation is spent discussing secondary issues and without going to the depth of the problems that have necessitated the negotiations between the parties in the first place (Goldenberg 2015).

Israel has adopted a negotiating strategy aimed at gaining time through procrastination regarding negotiating entitlements while continuing to ignore the Palestinian requests related to the end of the Israeli military occupation of the Palestinian territories, border demarcation, East Jerusalem issues, and the refugee's issue (Barghouti 2011). As the negotiating process moves forward, Israel has been working to win time through evading its negotiating commitments and procrastinating with respect the deadlines for a final solution. Indeed, Israeli procrastination has been the most significant feature of the Palestinian-Israeli negotiations. In the beginning, 1998 was set as the deadline for the establishment of the Palestinian State, but Israel postponed the date until 2005. Ultimately, even this date has been forgotten (Saleh 2014).

The Israeli side has sought to prolong the negotiating process, as this serves its strategy of expansion within the Palestinian territories, the establishment of settlements, and strengthening the Israeli domination in the occupied territories (Muhammad 2016, July 5). Draining the efforts of the other party to the greatest degree possible through focusing on the minor issues, Israel raises artificial legal obstacles

around the negotiating elements to the extent of name phrases and expressions that focus on artistic and economic aspects and delay decisions until so-called expert opinions are received (Jalal 2007; Robins 2010). Israel has parsed the negotiations into many sets of precise details and linked them so that any single issue can be decided only through a comprehensive agreement. This has led to the networking of scores of negotiators to arrive with an appropriate combination of the detailed issues involved in the negotiating process, and this has required hundreds of working hours in bilateral, multilateral and international negotiating tracks (Saleh 2014).

#### Fragmentation Strategy (Distraction)

Fragmentation strategy is considered one of the most effective strategies of the conflict approach. It is based on identifying the strengths and weaknesses of the opponent, the reasons that unite him and the factors that differentiate him. It seeks to recognize the affiliations, beliefs, scientific and cultural level and then adopting a cunning plan to promote these divisive and weakness factors (Jalal 2007; Robins 2010).

The Rhodes Armistice Agreements of 1949 represented the first negotiating experience on Palestine, in which Israel adopted a principle that was never changed, namely, to negotiate with each Arab state in private, and never to negotiate with them together. Because of those negotiations, armistice agreements were signed with Egypt on July 1949, with Lebanon on March 1949, with Jordan on April 1949 and with Syria on July 1949. The truce negotiations in Rhodes lasted 40 days, and no one was entitled to interrupt the negotiations under any pretext, a method later followed by the United States at Camp David (Hammaad 1997; Saleh 2014).

Israel has sought to prevent Arabs from acting as a single negotiating unit by developing multiple negotiating tracks. Thus, Israel has set bilateral negotiations between other parties and her to the conflict severally and negotiates separately with Palestinians, Jordanians, Syrians and Lebanese (Saleh 2014). In doing so, Israel attempts to disperse the parties and to sow suspicions and feelings of apprehension among them, pushing them to side battles to weaken them and to neutralize their ability to stand together. For example, Al-Khateeb (2014) stated that the Israeli negotiating delegation in Washington had encouraged the Palestinian delegation to ignore the PLO and to not give it any attention. He added that the United States officials have made efforts aimed at making eminent members of the Palestinian delegation act independently of the leadership of the PLO.

#### The Strategy of Control Provisions (Subjugation)

This strategy is evidenced by the ability of the stronger negotiating party to exert control over the negotiating sessions, with the ability to reject, modify or alter the negotiating plans, as he enjoys advancing initiatives through which he forces the other party to respond to his demands (Jalal 2007; Robins 2010). According to this strategy, negotiation is used as a tool that performs a functional role through a step-

by-step methodology. The process begins with breaking the silence and starting to collect data about the counterpart negotiator by using elementary negotiation. By gaining information, the strengths and weaknesses of the opponent are collected, and, then, the stage of bargaining to push the opponent to adopt a specific trend begins (Jalal 2007).

In this case, the Israeli negotiator enjoys full control over the track of the negotiations. As Mansour (2011: 53) has said: "Given the absence of symmetry between the parties to the negotiations on the site and the possibilities, the situation seemed as if the Israeli negotiator was negotiating with himself." This situation has encouraged Israel to violate the principle of negotiation consistently and its terms of reference, according to Haider Abdul Shafi (Baidas 1999). Moreover, the conduct of Israeli negotiators has often gone far beyond that by changing the rules of negotiations many times in a way that confirms how much power an Israeli negotiator possesses and by which he continues to confront his Palestinian counterpart with (Aggestam and Björkdahl 2011).

As a reflection of this, Israeli negotiators are accustomed to exerting intense pressure on their Palestinian counterparts to comply with and accept their demands for a solution. This is done at the same time the Gaza Strip is being blockaded and the killings continue as do the prosecutions and detentions of Palestinians, the demolition of houses, the construction of the separation wall, closures and roadblocks, the continued efforts to Judaize Jerusalem, the confiscation of land and the building of settlements, and the postponement of the implementation of signed conventions (Saleh 2014).

If a review of the Israeli negotiating strategy helps to interpret the outcomes of the negotiating process, the reference to the Palestinian negotiating strategy serves the same purpose. Analysts, intellectuals and those who monitor the negotiating process consider that no clearly defined Palestinian negotiation strategy exists, probably due to the absence of a balance of power between the parties to the negotiations (Al-Khateeb 2014). In contrast, the Palestinian negotiator used to consider negotiations as a strategic option. Whenever the process faced obstacles, the Palestinian negotiator resorted to tactical alternatives, so as to restore life to the negotiating track or only to improve the negotiating terms (Al-Jarbawi 2014).

Two indications of the weakness of the Palestinian negotiating strategy exist, according to Rouhana (2013). In addition to the fact that the Palestinian negotiator lacked a BATNA, the second indicator refers to the Palestinian negotiator's inattention to calling for the adoption of global norms such as international resolutions and international law that can be consulted in the event of disagreement between the negotiating parties. This is a critical issue for the weak party because it helps it to deal with unequal force relationships. It is surprising that recourse to international institutions has become a Palestinian threat rather than a negotiating reference point itself.

### 3.1.4 The Negotiating Objectives of the Parties to the Conflict

The negotiating objectives espoused by the parties to the conflict clearly affect the outcomes of the negotiating process (Al-khazendar 2014). It is, therefore, important to identify these objectives and to explore the extent to which they affect the nature and outcome of the negotiations.

The idea of scrutinizing the objectives of negotiation for the parties to the conflict gains its legitimacy through the realization that there are two types of interests that the negotiators seek to achieve, one of which concerns the general issue that necessitated the use of negotiating option. The second represents the special needs and interests of the negotiators stemming from the new relationship between them, which may be either similar or dissimilar according to the system of values and beliefs of each party (Lewicki et al. 1996).

Zartman (2008) argues that negotiation plays a role in three directions: (1) preventing conflict from going to the worse, (2) providing solutions to the crisis if the first track fails, and when the previous two tracks fail, (3) a definitive end is sought to the escalation and violence resulting from the conflict. Clearly, none of the three negotiating tracks available is intended to resolve the conflict but merely to manage it by addressing some of the effects associated with the conflict or preventing it from going in a worse direction. For these reasons, the negotiating process often takes another turn or faces a deadlock.

Druckman et al. (1999) sees that different motives are behind the choice of negotiation by parties to a conflict, some of which aim at establishing contacts for the purpose of taming the opponent, buying time, or bringing the influence of a third party. It is, therefore, necessary to inquire of the goals that push the parties to sit at the negotiating table, given either a direct or indirect impact of those on the outcomes of the negotiating process (Ghoson 2010). Nicolaev (2007) considers that the main objective of any negotiating process is to seek an acceptable solution to the parties to the conflict for a common problem.

Accordingly, it can be said that, when the goal of the parties to the conflict is to reach a solution, they will then be able to overcome all the obstacles that prevent them from attaining that regardless their nature. And, when the chances of a solution to the conflict fade, the negotiating objectives of the parties must be considered as part of the analytical framework used to assess the negotiating process.

# 3.1.5 The Impact of the International Political Context on the Outcomes of the Negotiating Process

Miall (2004) considers that the connotations and meaning of a conflict are highly dependent on the context in which they arise. The context in which negotiations are taking place effectively influences the developments and outcomes of the negotiating process (Kriesberg 2015). The context is usually embodied in three dimensions, local,

regional, and international (Miall 2004). Negotiations do not take place in a vacuum and cannot be isolated from the impact of the surrounding context with its diverse levels that is changing every moment. Therefore, the context has real influence on the negotiating process, whether directly or indirectly (Gallo 2013). Therefore, Miall (2004) called for a shift from relying on theories of conflict to theories of conflict-in-context, stressing that in an age of globalization, a conflict must be analyzed within the social, regional and international contexts in which it takes place.

Within this contextual rationale, Gallion (2007), Lewicki et al. (1996) considers that the success of the peace negotiations in the Middle East depends not only on the parties to the conflict but also on the international factors that affect the negotiating process. Shlaim (2016) explained that the Middle East had been the focus of international attention after the end of the Second World War, and the region was one of the cold-war arenas among the great powers, as it represented a source of competition between those powers.

These days, regional and international powers play an increasing role regarding the Palestinian question, and this increasing role may make the negotiating process more complex (Hänsel 2010). Accordingly, including the above-discussed items in the analytical framework that is designed to assess and analyze the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating experience is necessary, given the connotations these items involve. Unfortunately, most previous studies have not used them as inputs into the analytical framework, while trying to assess the negotiating experience. Although some researchers have pointed to some of these items, these references have often occurred as passing references, and the items mentioned, or some of them were not considered as main entrances for the evaluation process of the negotiating experience in question. This has created a gap in the structure of the analytical process carried out by previous studies towards the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating experience; this also cast a shadow over the nature of the findings and recommendations made by those studies to overcome the problem of Palestinian-Israeli negotiating deadlock.

## **3.2** How the Methodology of the Literature Reflected on the Nature of Recommendations

The perceptions, the diagnostic method, and the nature of the analytical framework adopted by previous studies to analyze the Palestinian-Israeli negotiation process reflected on the nature of the offered proposals for a solution to the negotiation deadlock, which had accompanied that experience. As the perceptions and analytical framework are criticized for their shortcomings, the recommendations and proposals that resulted from them would not be free from criticism either, as they represented results that reflected those frameworks. The gap in the proposals made by previous studies to break out of the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating impasse is evident in two issues.

## 3.2.1 Changing the Priorities

Obviously, literature tries to direct the efforts to address the impasse that has accompanied the negotiating process, rather than addressing the conflict itself. That means a preoccupation with one of the dilemma's symptoms and not with its root causes, and this can be done by transforming the intractable nature of the conflict into a solvable conflict through inducing the parties to the conflict to alter their attitudes towards the conflict and to change their vision of the other side (Aggestam 1999). These are the efforts that previous studies see as an entry point for facilitating a solution of the conflict. This should go through changing the awareness of the parties to the conflict towards the conflict itself and inducing them to reshape their perceptions and the historical narrations about it in a manner that reflects positively on their political behavior, which facilitates the process of reaching a negotiating solution (Bar-Tal 2007).

This means that, instead of concentrating efforts to alter the existing reality that embodies a great injustice to one of the parties to the conflict, that party must be persuaded to accept the fait accompli, adapting to its requirements, then the conflict becomes solvable. This is based on stabilizing the fait accompli and not based on lifting injustice from the oppressed and restoring their rights.

The thorny nature of the conflict is an integral part of the existing conflict situation, playing a critical role in steering the conflict, making it permanent and dynamic. This a situation embodies a force element and a lever in which the weak party can invests, keeping its grievances open wounds. This is a situation that the other more powerful party does not accept and seeks to divert attention from it.

In striving to change the nature of the conflict, this nature becomes an arena of a scramble between the parties. The strong party seeks to change that nature to deprive the weaker party of the advantages it provides him with, and to close the way to the prospects of a renewed confrontation imposed by the nature of the conflict. In such a case, the goal of changing the nature of the conflict becomes part of the battle, not one of the tools used to solve it, so it is important to draw attention to the effects of the search to alter the nature of the conflict and the beneficiaries of such an effort.

## 3.2.2 Adopting Reverse Methodology

The second issue is dealing with the idea of replacing conflict resolution methodology with conflict management methodology. This means moving a step backward regarding the search for a reasonable solution to the conflict because the conflict management methodology paves the way for the conflict resolution methodology since it comes first according to literature. The issue is to be discussed in the next chapter.

The concept of conflict management reflects a modest vision of dealing with conflicts, and the idea has developed and matured over decades. Conflict management means reducing or halting manifestations of violence that usually companion a conflict and preventing it from escalating, but without actually seeking to address the causes of the conflict. Thus, clearly, the concept of conflict management embodies the idea of temporary containment of the conflict, which proceeds from a consideration that the negotiating process faces many obstacles. Consequently, the efforts through the conflict management approach start to focus on bringing changes in the vision and the awareness of the parties to the conflict to adopt changes in the range of values, culture, beliefs and special orientations, ensuring a shift in their political, economic and social behavior, which is more focused on the parties and the environment of conflict than on conflict itself (Azem 2012).

## 3.3 Conclusion

Expanding the analytical framework aimed at assessing the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating experience is important as this would provide a better opportunity to determine the reasons that led to the deadlock in the negotiating process. To that effect, this chapter included focused references on factors that clearly influenced the track and outcome of the negotiating process to attract attention to the analytical ingredients have been omitted by the previous studies while trying to assess the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating experience. Obviously, exploring the extent to which the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating process responds to the theoretical rules of negotiation, the susceptibility of the conflict to the negotiating solution, analyzing the negotiating strategies that Israeli negotiators have consistently used, examining the negotiating objectives of the parties to the conflict, and evoking the role and influence of the political context in which the negotiating process is running helps to provide a more comprehensive analysis of this experience through determining the most important reasons preventing a negotiating solution to the conflict in question. The absence of such important analytical elements of the analytical framework aimed at analyzing the Palestinian-Israeli negotiating experience disclose the shortcomings involved in the evaluative process. This was reflected in the nature of the recommendations and the format of the proposals made by the previous studies to remove the impasse in the negotiating process.

### References

- Aggestam, K. (1999). *Reframing and resolving conflict: Israeli-Palestinian negotiations* 1988–1998. Ph.D. thesis, Lund University.
- Aggestam, K., & Björkdahl, A. (2011). Just peace postponed: Unending peace processes & frozen conflicts. JAD-PbP working paper series no. 10. Researchgate. Retrieved May 29, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2sVlUcU.

- Al-Jarbawi, A. (2014). Al-maazaq al-Falasteeni Ibtia'ad al-hadaf wanzilaq al-masarat (Arabic) [Palestinian predicament distancing target and sliding paths]. Journal of Palestine Studies, 25(99), 29–37.
- Al-Khateeb, G. (2014). Al-siyasat al-Falasteeniyat wa a'amaliyat salam al-sharq al-awsat: Alijmaa' wa-l-tanafos dimn al-wafd al-Falasteeni al-mofawid (Arabic) [Palestinian policy and Middle East peace process: Unanimity and competition within the Palestinian negotiating delegation]. Beirut: The Institute for Palestine Studies.
- Al-khazendar, S. I. (2014). *Idarat al-siraa'at wa fad al-nizaa'at itar nathari* (Arabic) [Conflict management and dispute resolution a theoretical framework]. Al-Doha: Al-jazeera studies centre, The Arab centre for science (Nashiroon).
- Anderson, B. (2014). *Al-tafawud al-faa'al maharat al-tafawud al-ihtirafi* (Arabic) [Effective negotiation: Professional negotiation skills]. Cairo: Al-Hilal International Library (Trans.).
- Azem, A. J. (2012). Tahweel al-siraa': iqtirab gayr sifri li-idarat nizaa'at ma baa'd al-thawrat al-Arabiyat (Arabic) [Conflict transformation: "Non-zero approach" to managing conflicts post-Arab revolutions]. Retrieved November 11, 2015, from http://www.siyassa.org.eg/NewsQ/2769. aspx.
- Baidas, R. (1999). Hiwar maa' haidar Abdulshafi a'an al-mofawadat wa shojoon al-wada' al-Falasteeni (Arabic) [Dialogue with Haidar Abdul Shafi on the negotiations and the Palestinian situation]. Journal of Palestine Studies, 10(40), 64–72.
- Barghouti, I. (2011). Palestinian-Israeli negotiations: An objective in themselves. *The International Spectator: Italian Journal of International Affairs*, 26(1), 15–23.
- Bar-Siman-Tov, Y. (2010). Barriers to conflict resolution. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.), *Barriers to peace in The Israeli-Palestinian conflict* (pp. 15–27). Jerusalem: Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung Israel, The Jerusalem Institute for Israel Studies, Study no. 406.
- Bar-Tal, D. (2007). Socio psychological foundations of intractable conflicts. American Behavioral Scientist, 50(11), 1430–1453.
- Brett, J. M. (2007). Negotiating globally how to negotiate deals, resolve disputes and make decisions across cultural boundaries (2nd ed.). Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Churchman, D. (1995). *Negotiating process tactics theory* (2nd ed.). Lanham, MD: University Press of America.
- Coleman, P. T., & Deutsch, M. (2015). *Major texts on peace psychology*. New York: International Center for Cooperation and Conflict Resolution.
- Conflict Research Consortium. (1998). Attempting to negotiate nonnegotiable issues. International online training program on intractable conflict. USA: University of Colorado. Retrieved November 16, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2SZeu6W.
- Dajani, B. (1996). An alternative to Oslo. Journal of Palestine Studies, 25(4), 5-19.
- Deutsch, M. (2003). Cooperation and conflict: A personal perspective on the history of the social psychological study of conflict resolution. In M. A. West, D. Tjosvold, & K. G. Smith (Eds.), *International handbook of organizational teamwork and cooperative working* (pp. 9–44). London: Wiley.
- Druckman, D., Martin, J., Nan, S. A., & Yagcioglu, D. (1999). Dimensions of international negotiations: Atest of Ickle's typology. *Group Decision and Negotiation*, 8(2), 89–108.
- Fisher, R., Ury, W., & Paton, B. (Ed.). (1991). *Getting to yes: Negotiating agreement without giving in* (2nd ed.). Random House Business Books.
- Fisher, R., Ury, W., & Patton, B. (1993). Negotiation power: Ingredients in an ability to influence the other side. In L. Hall (Ed.), Negotiation strategies for mutual gain the basic seminar of the program on negotiation at Harvard Law School (pp. 3–13). Newbury Park, London, Delhi: Sage.
- Gallion, B. (2007). Maseer al-taswiyat al-siyasiyat al-Arabiyat al-Israeeliyat baa'd arbaa'een a'aman a'ala harb 1967 (Arabic) [The fate of the Arab-Israeli political settlement forty years after the 1967 war[. Journal of Palestine Studies, 18(70), 5–14.

- Gallo, G. (2013). Conflict theory, complexity and system approach. *Systems research and behavioral science*, 30(2), 156–175.
- Ghoson, F. (2010). Getting to the table and getting to yes: An analysis of international negotiations. *International Studies Quarterly*, 54(4), 1055–1072.
- Goldenberg, I. (2015). *Lessons from the 2013–2014 Israeli-Palestinian final status negotiations*. Washington: Center for a New America Security. Retrieved November 9, 2016, from https://bit. ly/2xeA1y9.
- Gosselin, T. (2007). Practical negotiating, tools, tactics, and techniques. Hoboken, NJ: Wiley.
- Hammaad, M. M. (1997). Istrategiyat al-tafawud al-israeeliyat 1978–1993 (Arabic). Israeli negotiating strategy 1978–1993. Master thesis, Library of Jordan University. Retrieved August 9, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2113u6s.
- Hänsel, L. (2010). Foreword. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.), *Barriers to peace in the Israeli-Palestinian conflict* (pp. 13–14). Jerusalem: Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung Israel, The Jerusalem Institute for Israel Studies, Study no. 406.
- Jalal, A. F. (2007). Maharat al-tafawud (Arabic) [Skills of negotiation]. Cairo: University of Cairo.
- Kriesberg, L. (2015). Negotiating conflict transformations. In M. Galluccio (Ed.), Handbook of international negotiation (pp. 109–122). Switzerland: Springer.
- Lewicki, R. J., Hiam, A., & Olander, K. W. (1996). *Think before you speak the complete guide to strategic negotiation*. Wiley.
- Luecke, R. (2003). *Harvard business essential: negotiation*. Boston, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Mansour, C. (2011). Taqyeem tajrobat al-mofawadat al-falasteeniyat al-israeeliyat wa siyagat roaiyat jadeedat (Arabic) [Evaluating the experience of the Palestinian-Israeli negotiations and formulating a new vision]. Journal of Palestine Studies, 22(86), 49–61.
- Miall, H. (2004). Conflict transformation a multi-dimensional task. Bergh of Research Center for Constructive Conflict Management, Springer. Retrieved July 5, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2y05btX.
- Michael, K. (2010). The geopolitical environment as a barrier to resolution of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.), *Barriers to peace in the Israeli-Palestinian conflict* (pp. 340–362). Jerusalem: Konrad-Adenauer-Stiftung Israel, Jerusalem Institute for Israel Studies, Study no. 406.
- Muhammad, A. (2016, July 5). Foras Wamoa'awiqat al-taswiyat al-silmiyat li-l- siraa' al-arabi al-Israeli [Arabic]. [Opportunities and impediments to the peaceful settlement of the Arab-Israeli conflict]. Al- Ahram. Retrieved September 12, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2uiLx8z.
- Nicolaev, A. G. (2007). International negotiations: Theory, practice, and the connection with domestic politics. Lanham, MD: Lexington Books Rowman & Littlefield Publishers.
- Nierenberg, G. I., & Calero, H. H. (2010). Al- fan al-jadeed l-i-l tafawud kaif tonjez aiyat safqat [Arabic]. [The new art of negotiation: How to close any deal]. Al-Riyad: Jareer Library (Trans.).
- Robins, P. (2010). *AL-tafawud fan al-fawz* (Arabic) [Negotiating: The art of winning]. Cairo: Dar Al-Khulood (Trans.).
- Rouhana, N. (2013). Al-mofawadat wa azmat al-mashrooa' al-watani (Arabic) [Negotiations and the national project crisis]. Journal of Palestine Studies, 24(96), 8–13.
- Saleh, M. (2014). Ten Israeli negotiation strategies. Middle East Monitor. Retrieved June 2, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2yshaB5.
- Shlaim, A. (2016). The rise and fall of the Oslo peace process. In L. Fawcette (Ed.), *International relations of the Middle East* (4th ed., pp. 285–303). Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Thomas, R. E. (1998). *Strategic negotiation: Concepts and accountability in utility regulation*. University of Florida. Retrieved October 12, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2fKNuTb.
- Thompson, L. (2008). *The truth about negotiations*. New Jersey: Pearson Education. Retrieved February 18, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2l0UiPq.

- Wertheim, E. (2002). Negotiations and resolving conflicts: An overview. College of Business Administration. Northeastern University. Retrieved December 11, 2015, from https://bit.ly/2M0gdl1. Zartman, I. W. (2008). Negotiation and conflict management: Essays in theory and practice. London,
- New York: Routledge, Taylor and Francis Group.

## **Chapter 4 Shifting from Conflict Resolution to Conflict Management**



Abstract Scholars have started to pay attention to the idea of conflict management in the search for a negotiating solution to the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, and this interest has evolved with the emergence of a trend calling for the replacement of the conflict resolution methodology with the conflict management methodology to deal with the conflict. Therefore, calling for a substitution requires highlighting the form of the relationship between them. This chapter explores the reasonableness of the claim to replace the methodologies in light of the idea of a fixed chronological order between them, and then to know whether this replacement is warranted and or whether the substitution serves both parties to the conflict or only one of them. The chapter then seeks to find a link between the methodology of conflict management and the Israeli negotiating behavior and to explore whether the Israeli negotiating methodology is trying to reach a real solution to the conflict or has been inspired by the idea of conflict management since the start of the negotiating process. In conclusion, the chapter provides an assessment of the conflict management methodology and its implications for the parties to the conflict and the development of the conflict and the opportunities for its resolution through an analysis of the core function of the methodology.

**Keywords** Conflict resolution · Conflict management · Israeli negotiating-behavior

## 4.1 Emergence of Conflict Management Method

A link existed between the emergence of the conflict management methodology and the adequacy of the conflict resolution methodology regarding the Palestinian-Israeli situation. Bar-Siman-Tov (2007) pointed out that, when efforts to find a solution to the Palestinian-Israeli conflict failed, researchers and decision-makers considered that the time was not ripe for conflict resolution. Therefore, the methodology became preferable. Analysts have begun to talk about the conflict management rather than the conflict resolution since the outbreak of the second Intifada in 2000 in a step

that reminds how intractable the conflict is, and suggests that it cannot be resolved peacefully in the near future to come (Handelman 2011). Conflict management serves as a substitute for the conflict resolution and as a stage leading to it at the same time (Bar-Siman-Tov 2007; Handelman 2011).

Thus, pushing the idea of conflict management forward is linked to the failure of the conflict resolution methodology to find a solution. However, the role of the conflict management method does not mean playing the roles of the conflict resolution method but is for managing the post-failure phase of efforts aimed at finding a solution to the conflict. This is done by controlling some of its manifestations and steering the movement of its interactions, preventing it from slipping towards unwanted violence, perhaps from the view of only one of the parties to the conflict. Thus, the argument that conflict management methodology is considered a substitute for conflict resolution methodology requires a deep consideration and scrutiny because their objectives and working mechanisms are different from each other (Ben-Artzi et al. 2015).

The theorists of the conflict management methodology have not explained how the use of this methodology would lead to improvements in the relationship between the parties, or how they would enhance efforts to end the conflict (Handelman 2011). This is because no preconceived assumptions or credible perceptions exist that can pave the way for a lasting solution to the conflict (Kelman 1998).

Mial (2004) believes that the theorists who tend to use conflict management methodology believe that violent conflicts have consequences that are difficult to eliminate because disagreement in such situations is centered around basic values and needs within conflicting societies. These theorists believe that the purposeful pursuit of the resolution of such conflicts seems unrealistic and that the best possible is to manage and contain these conflicts, which requires an end to violence and the resumption of normal political relations.

Others have articulated that several trends appeared when people seemed unable to resolve the conflict, and those trends aim at maintaining the status quo, through preventing the situation from worsening. These goals can be achieved by maintaining the negotiating process to prevent escalation and the emergence of violence, but not to reach a solution (Ben-Artzi et al. 2015). It is a situation that does not help to end the conflict, but to keep it in the freezer (Aggestam and Bjorkdahl 2011).

No doubt, that the conflict management methodology aims at preserving the nature of the status quo between the parties to the conflict, by preventing manifestations of violence and confrontation between them that is considered one of the possible tools to resolve the conflict according to the concept of conflict resolution. The maintenance of the status quo often reflects the interests of one of the parties to the conflict, while the other party seeks to employ all instruments of confrontation to alter the status quo so as to achieve its own interests by virtue of the conflicting interests of the parties. Israel's policy has always been aimed at developing the status quo into a fait accompli, depending on the unlimited support it receives from its Western allies, and this ongoing policy has not been subjected to any effective challenges. Therefore, Israel can create more and more facts of a fait accompli and perpetuate its status in an increasingly expanding occupation with a vastly superior military force (Cohen 2014).

However, the tasks of the conflict management methodology do not appear to be based on a balance of the interests of the parties to the conflict, as well as working in two directions. The conflict management methodology seems to serve the goals of the Israeli side, which is working vigorously to keep on the realities of the fait accompli as it is and to obstruct the endeavors of the Palestinian side. The Palestinian side seeks to employ all the tools available to achieve its objectives, which include changing the realities of the fait accompli that include a great deal of injustice. This situation reflects the role of the methodology, which concerns the desire to control conflict trends, rather than the desire to facilitate a solution. Therefore, arguably, conflict management in its Western theoretical projections seems to be one of the tools of conflict more than being a means to facilitate a solution to it.

There is a problem with the theoretical framework of negotiation including, of course, the conflict management methodology, which developed mostly by the Western contributions and has reversed the experiences of conflict and European negotiation as interstate conflict model. This model is intended to be applied to cases in which one party to the conflict is not Western and represents a people under occupation, while the other party is an occupying power. This makes it difficult according to the Palestinian point of view to manage the conflict in accordance with the Western perspective because the repercussions of this are contrary to Palestinian interests.

Palestinian negotiators might look to manage the conflict in accordance with a new basis and norms of conflict management, which should reflect their own visions and interests. However, such faces three obstacles. First, no theoretical basis exists about how to manage the conflict in a way that differs from the Western perspective of conflict management, and how to manage the conflict between non-state actors and state-actors. This issue foremostly requires creative efforts. Second is the weakness of the Palestinian negotiators, and the nature of the circumstance accompanying their engagement in the negotiation process (Qurie 2005).

Palestinian negotiators are unable to do so, as they are not actually negotiating counterparts to Israeli negotiators in accordance with the prevailing theoretical rules of negotiation. Therefore, Palestinian negotiators are not partners of the negotiating event but just follow the will of the other Israelis. On the other hand, Israel has not dealt with the Palestinians as if they were peers (Kriesberg 2014). Third, even if a Palestinian negotiator is able to be a partner, he does not have the desire to do so because he does not wish to lose his political survival, which is linked to the existence of an ongoing negotiating process. Addressing these ideas needs self-standing search.

## 4.2 Dialectic Relationship Between Conflict Resolution and Conflict Management

Both the conflict resolution and conflict management methodologies play a role in the process aimed at resolving the Palestinian-Israeli conflict based on the two-state solution. Despite the chronological sequence that linked their relations, both of them do not work in a totally separate, but rather in an overlapping manner (Yousef and Mostafa 2013). Hence, knowing the boundary of the relationship between them is necessary.

The conflict management methodology paves the way for the conflict resolution methodology, while the second is integrated with the first (Bar-Siman-Tov 2007). Ben-Artzi et al. (2015) affirmed that the idea of conflict management has been adopted as an alternative to the idea of conflict resolution, which focuses on the discussion of thorny issues of conflict. These are the core of the conflict and its root cause, while the method of conflict management is aimed at creating a state of conflicter and eliminating many of the barriers between the parties to pave the way for conflict resolution.

The conflict can be managed first, moving from violence to political status, and then resolved and transformed, and its causes removed (Zartman 2007). There are two salient inputs to the relationship between conflict resolution and conflict management methodologies, which are chronological sequence and replacement.

## 4.2.1 Chronological Sequence

This refers to which methodologies come first. According to previous studies, conflict management methodology comes first because one of its tasks is to pave the way for the conflict resolution methodology. The relationship between the two methodologies is important as it reveals the transition between them (Bar-Siman Tov 2007). It is a path that begins with conflict management and ends with the conflict resolution. Ben Artzi et al. (2015) explained that, instead of discussing the root causes of conflict, some felt that the search for a settlement could be divided into several stages. After achieving the stages of conflict management, the process will transit into conflict resolution, which will be mature because of the elimination of the many barriers between the two parties during the previous conflict management phases.

The chronological sequence represents the most salient manifestation of the relationship between the two methodologies. Because the conflict management methodology comes first, the transition from a conflict resolution methodology that has failed to find a solution to the conflict to the conflict management methodology as suggested by previous studies means using a reverse trend in the relationship between them. So, what is the justification of such motion? How can previous studies explain and justify the transition from the advanced conflict resolution methodology to the primary conflict management methodology? How can this setback serve the efforts aimed at finding a solution to the conflict?

The implementation of the reverse substitution of conflict methodologies seems arbitrary in dealing with the facts, probably because of the unwillingness to open the debate on the alternative to the negotiations that have been failed yet to find a solution to the conflict. However, the back-to-back process cannot be separated from its indications linked with the time dimension in particular because the search for a solution to the conflict will enter new episodes. Needless to say, the time factor and its direction represent a distinguishing characteristic of the conflict, and, therefore, excluding this dimension from the discussion circle around the present and the future of the conflict is unwise. Reversing the methodology, therefore, serves the Israeli side that is looking for the precious time needed to change the facts on the ground. In other words, this means, in practical terms, the freezing of the natural movement of the conflict by preventing it from moving forward and keeping it in a range that is appropriate for the beneficiary party to maintain the status quo as long as possible.

## 4.2.2 Replacement

The substitution between the methodologies somehow contradicts the concept of chronological sequence and the integration in the work of these methodologies, and it becomes difficult to match the meaning revealed by the chronological sequence and the meaning revealed by the substitution of methodologies unless changing the concept of conflict resolution. The mission is expected to be achieved through conflict management approach.

This is clearly evident in light of the realization that the work of the conflict management methodology is not relevant to overcoming the physical obstacles and realities of the situation that are impeding a solution to the conflict, but rather to work to change the criteria for acceptance or rejection of the suggested solutions to the conflict by the parties, so that what was previously unacceptable to the weaker party in particular would now be acceptable. Therefore, the substitution does not really occur among the methodologies aimed at reaching a solution to the conflict, but rather in the content of the solution required. Depending on the change in the stances of the weaker party, which will be achieved mostly through the use of conflict management approach.

Explaining the perspective through which the methodologies are replaced is necessary as is how they are carried out, and whether both parties to the conflict agree to this procedure and that it reflects their common interests. Does the substitution reflect the principle of reciprocity in the presumed relationship between them (Zartman 2008). Or, is there a party that decides on the nature of the clash, the mechanisms of the stampede, and the form of the relationship between the parties unilaterally? Obviously, the requirement to replace methodologies dealing with conflict is not based on clear rules and lacks a theoretical frame and the required conceptual support. It neither provides an integrated view of the justification for replacement and its access mechanisms nor how it affects the efforts to find a solution to the conflict.

The absence of participation of the parties to the conflict in determining the mechanisms designed to resolve or to manage the conflict will complicate the problem rather than facilitate a solution because the procedures in such a case will reflect the positions, desires, and visions of one party to the conflict, not both. To be mutually acceptable and successful, conflict-related plans for dealing with the parties must reflect their visions together and their common interests, as the conflict is an expression of an interactive relationship between two parties. How is it possible then for one of them to decide on the form of such a relationship and the mechanisms for resolving it in a unilateral manner?

Dajani (1996: 5–6) articulated that when Palestinians failed to "insist upon a prior agenda for negotiations, thus allowing Israel alone to determine their nature, scope, direction, and content". Aggestam and Bjorkdahl (2011), Coleman (2003) explains that if the strong party to the conflict is accustomed to determining the form of relationship between the two parties of the conflict, then this would create the foundation to the most significant problem facing the efforts aimed at ending the conflict, adding that this happens because of the sovereignty of the vision of that party, which determines the nature of the relationship with the other party, and the way they face each other.

Accordingly, the conflict management is likely to have a deep trap targeting the weak party to the conflict particularly, since it works in one direction and not in two directions, trying to maintain a certain level of interaction between the parties to the conflict, and working to change the nature of their relationship before a just solution is achieved. The conflict management method, therefore, may make it difficult for the parties to reach a solution to the conflict, rather than working towards a solution (Ben-Artzi et al. 2015).

## 4.3 Conflict Management and Israeli Negotiating Behavior

Regarding the overlapping between conflict resolution methodology and conflict management methodology, which adds another dimension in the form of their relationship, then examining and assessing the Israeli negotiating behavior seems important. This will disclose if it is aimed at reaching a reasonable solution to the conflict, or if it is has been used as a tool to manage the conflict since the beginning of the negotiating track, especially because such an overlap allows the Israelis to hide behind the conflict management methodology to continue the violent struggle against the Palestinian people, while seemingly trying to find a negotiated solution to the conflict.

According to Brom (2013), Israel joined the Madrid Peace Conference in 1991 to gain the time it needed to impose the wanted facts on the ground and realize its vision of a greater Israel project. Said (2002) articulated that Israel had sought through the Oslo Accords of 1993 and 1995 to legitimize its occupation of the West

Bank, Gaza, Jerusalem and the Golan and to compel the Palestinians to accept that fact by bringing this issue to the heart of the agreement with the PLO. Al-Khateeb (2014) opines that, one of Israel's strategic objectives of the Declaration of Principles (Oslo) was to establish and expand settlements, and the Israeli negotiating strategy sought to ensure harmony between Israel's settlement policies and the agreements with the Palestinians.

Pruitt (2015) stated that Israel had been eager to achieve two goals through the signing of the Oslo Accords, which were to reduce the likelihood of a further resurgence of the Intifada and then to stop the advance of Hamas movement. Gallo and Marzano (2009) consider that, at times, a party not wishing to change the status quo uses negotiations to slow the transition towards a lasting peace, and this can be achieved through a range of ways. One is foot-dragging by making the negotiating process last for as long as possible, while the facts on the ground are being altered to serve the interests of Israel, making it difficult, if not impossible, to reach a solution according to the demands of the Palestinian party.

Even after the mutual recognition between the PLO and the Israeli Government in 1993, Israeli leaders continued to pursue a policy of prevarication towards the issues of occupation and of Jewish settlements and the Palestinian State, which had not only caused frustration to the Palestinian side but also created resentment against Israeli policy as a whole (Aggestam and Bjorkdahl 2011; Kriesberg 2014). In the same vein, Israel had maintained its colonial practices during the negotiations, and the pace of such practices had increased dramatically in many cases. All this was done before the negotiations reached a deadlock in late 2000.

First, Israel has continued to work on the construction of settlements in the occupied Palestinian territories, which poison the atmosphere of negotiations and undermine the chances of success in reaching an agreement between the parties (Goldenberg 2015). Furthermore, their creation constitutes a natural barrier to the possibility of a Palestinian state (Kelman 2007). The group Americans for Peace Now indicated that the rate of increase in Israeli settlement construction in the occupied Palestinian territories amounted to 52.49%, from September 1993 to 2001, and the number of settlers in the same period was 72%, jumped from 115,700 to 203,000 (Barak 2005).

Second, Israel has continued to confiscate Palestinian land, aiming to alter the realities of geography on the ground and did not stop the practices of arrest, murder and destruction of property, and between September 1993 and October 2001. More than 157,180 dunums (38,840 acres or 15,718 ha) of Palestinian land were confiscated for building settlements and bypass roads (Isaac and Rizik 2002).

Third, Israel has continued its policy of the dismemberment of the West Bank and Gaza Strip, with military roadblocks that make the lives of Palestinians an intolerable inferno (Stockton 2014). Also, Israel has procrastinated in the transition to the final solution issues, which were to be resolved by the end of a five-year transitional period, in accordance with the Oslo Agreement, and from the moment of the signature of the Declaration of Principles Agreement (Goldenberg 2015).

Fourth, Israel has detained thousands of Palestinian prisoners and kept them in detention in its jails. The Oslo Accords provided for the release of political prisoners. Section 20 of the Gaza-Jericho convention calls on Israel to release 5,000 Palestinian

political prisoners, and section 16 of the Interim Convention provides for the release of more Palestinian prisoners in three stages (Al-Wafd 2015, October 16).

Fifth, Sarah Roy explained that the Israeli Government had imposed 342 days of full closure of the Gaza Strip and 291 days of full closure in the West Bank during the period from 1993 to 1996 (the period of appeasement and delight in the Oslo agreement). Palestinians were prohibited from any economic activity outside the West Bank and Gaza during those days, and, for the rest of the days, they were subject to less harsh closures (Al-Khateeb 2014).

Accordingly, how it is possible to differentiate between the negotiating rounds that happened under the heading of conflict resolution between 1993 and 2001 and those that happened under the heading of conflict management like the road map negotiations 2003, the Annapolis negotiations 2008, and then the 2013–2014 negotiation rounds? Are there any differences between them in content, in mechanisms, or in goals and visions? If it is difficult to find differences between the two situations, then does this mean that the two negotiating situations reflect the methodology of conflict management? Is there any need for further proof that Israel has been using negotiation as a tool to manage the conflict and not to resolve it since the start of the negotiation process?

Obviously, there is a clear relationship between the methodology of conflict management and the Israeli negotiating behavior, so highlighting this relationship seems necessary, and serves the goal of this research given the clear harmony between them. This will help also to shed light on that relation since the negotiating process had started. This means that linking the replacement of methodologies with the developments that have happened in 2000, according to the literature, is inaccurate.

On the other hand, no clear relationship exists between the conflict management methodology and the Palestinian negotiating behavior, so that it can be reviewed in this research. There was, however, a Palestinian negotiating conduct, and, in that light, comparisons could be made between both Palestinian and Israeli negotiating behavior, but this was not done because of the nature of this research, and the space allocated to the research does not accommodate such branching.

#### 4.4 Assessment of Conflict Management Method

Conflict management methodology primarily attempts to develop a state of transitions in the directions of the parties to the conflict, to make them closer to each other. It is expected that this type of transformation will stimulate efforts aimed at reaching an acceptable solution to the conflict (Menkel-Meadow and Nutenko 2009). This requires that the parties to the conflict change their profoundly held views of the conflict and replace them with a more moderate look at the peace efforts and its requirements (Bar-Tal 2000).

Hill (1982) considers that subjective conflict requires a change in "self" as a requirement for a solution. A subjective conflict is that to which the personal fate of the parties to a conflict are subject to such as the struggle for identity, destiny, and

land. Kelman (2004) says that reconciliation as one of three elements of the peace industry in existential identity struggles requires that the parties change a component of their identity, which concerns the perception of the other party.

Thus, the idea of changing the positions and attitudes of the parties to the conflict appears to be a critical step and contributes to overcoming the obstacles to a solution between two parties that are dominated by hostility. However, this needs further clarification and discussion, as it involves an imbalanced generalization, which requires a clearer definition of the idea and its connotations.

It is not necessary for both parties to the conflict to change their positions to find a situation of rapprochement between them; it is sufficient for only one of them to do so that the positions of the parties can converge. In an asymmetry-based relationship as in the case in question, the weak party is already equipped to respond to the demands for change that it is heaped on it for subjective and objective reasons. What is needed, therefore, to ascertain whether the process is aimed at changing the awareness of both parties to the conflict through working in two directions, or that it affects only one party because it operates only in one direction?

Aggestam (1999) articulated this matter when she considered that changing selfimage and political culture of parties to the conflict makes conflict easier and more amenable to resolution, a change that political actors conceive of in different ways. That meant that the change to be achieved in the perceptions of the actors is not mutually parallel, as both parties are not seeking to change their positions, their perceptions to get them closer together, but usually, the stronger party sought to make changes in the weaker party.

In any case, attempts to change the psychological and social structure of the parties to the conflict seem problematic because changing the cognitive, psychological and social heritage of people is difficult (Churchman 1995). Nevertheless, such a change is considered a cornerstone in the endeavors attempting to eliminate the obstacles that resist finding a solution to the conflict according to the literature, the task that might be achieved by using conflict management approach.

In analyzing the circumstances of the situation, it has been shown that efforts are being made for bringing about change in only one party, that of the Palestinians. Therefore, the claim that encouraging both parties to the conflict to change their perceptions is necessary contradicts what is happening on the ground. In fact, all parties are exerting pressure on the weaker side (the Palestinians) to change its perceptions and historical narratives on the conflict by betting on their inability to resist the purposeful orientations to change their attitudes towards the conflict and the other party.

Therefore, the conflict management methodology goes in a different direction. That will be more evident in light of the realization that the conflict management methodology is an expression of a battle aimed at changing the positions of the other party, given its capability to influence its awareness (Bar-Siman-Tov 2007).

Conflict management methodology targets the awareness of parties to a conflict in a way that aims to address the causes of a conflict resting on peoples' awareness and not on the facts on the ground, which is dangerous if it goes in only one direction or focuses only on one party to the conflict. Needless to say, conflict is primarily linked to perceptions and awareness more than to attitudes and behavior as it is defined and presented in general, and, when discussing the concept of conflict, awareness should be considered a central concept that cannot be overridden (Swanström and Weissmann 2005).

No doubt, the conflict emanates primarily from consciousness before it is reflected in a problem that appears on the ground because the issue of conflicts of interest that cause the conflict exists in awareness and perception. Without consciousness saturation with concepts such as conflict, heterogeneity, divergence, and contradiction between the actors, there will be no conflict between them on the ground. It can, therefore, be confidently said that conflict is a foremost a matter of consciousness. Fisher et al. (1991) are of the view that conflict in the end, does not occur in objective reality but in the minds of people.

Therefore, the differing concepts and perceptions between the parties about an issue lead to a conflict between them, and, to the extent to which concepts and perceptions seem contradictory, the conflict gains a parallel magnitude in sharpness and the complexities involved. Accordingly, an action to change the awareness of issues will be in itself an act of conflict and not a tool that facilitates reaching a solution. This is unless the intended solution reflects the perspective of one of the parties to the conflict, and this emphasizes once more the fact that the conflict management methodology does not serve both parties to the conflict, but one of them only.

The issue of changing the nature of the conflict and the perspective of the parties toward each other by reprogramming the consciousness of the weak party does not help to reach a solution to the conflict, but rather complicates it because the mechanism of the methodology is unidirectional. It is an effort in the powerful party's basket of gains, which should be matched by a parallel effort by the weak party through a reluctance to respond to the purposes of that effort, and thereby serve its own goals through its own method of conflict management.

Clearly, efforts on the ground in the Palestine-Israeli reflect endeavors aim at changing the perceptions of the Palestinians about the conflict by attempting to standardize a range of ideas in their consciousness. Such current ideas have been expressed in accepting Jewish settlers east of Jerusalem as neighbors and in expressing the ending of occupation as if it were a process of redeployment, as well as replacing the terminology of the occupied territories with the terminology of zones of conflict (Aggestam and Bjorkdahl 2011).

Clearly, these efforts have been aimed solely at changing the awareness of the Palestinian side and no comparable effort has been made to change the awareness of the Israeli side, as a matter of reciprocity. As a representation of that fact, calls for the creation of the new Palestinian have been made, but no similar calls have been made for the creation of the new Israeli (Dayton 2009). The issue reflects the nature of calls aiming at achieving transitions and the parties that are targeted. If an attempt to influence Israeli consciousness were available, then it would have been easy to invite that party to abandon its historical memory, which claims that Israelis own the disputed land. It is this consciousness that has caused the renewal of the conflict in its present form.

Avineri (1981), Vital (1982) see that the Jews have returned to the land of Israel (Palestine) with the aim of establishing their own state after two thousand years of exile, and they have been armed with a Zionist ideology that will provide them with the rationale to justify their steps (as cited in Bar-Tal and Salomon 2006). Therefore, working to change the awareness of the other party will not only fail to end the conflict equitably but will help to achieve the objectives demanded by the Israelis.

Bringing about a change in the consciousness of one party to the conflict leads to a change in the relationship between them but serves one party exclusively. At a time when calls for transforming the conflict are on the rise through changing the positions and perceptions of one party towards the other party, the strong party (Israel) insists upon upholding the status quo, in which it plays the role of the dominant party, preferring the survival of that status on a comprehensive settlement of the conflict (Aggestam and Bjorkdahl 2011; Brom 2013).

Arguably, this means that any transformation is to be on the Palestinian side only, and when Palestinians respond to the pressure to do so, this will leave the impression that the conflict has been resolved or that it is on the way to being resolved at least, whether this is true or not. The theoretical assumption that conflict management leads to the resolution of the conflict has stalled and is even making the distance for a solution farther apart rather than bringing it closer (Ben-Artzi et al. 2015) because of the imbalance in the work of the conflict management methodology.

Accordingly, Kelman (1999) believes achieving the transformations in the relationship between the parties to the conflict should be an expression of the ultimate treatment of the conflict and its deep roots. It should not precede that because that would give the impression of the end of the conflict by achieving those transformations so that the strong party would consider that the fulfilled transformations should be the alternative to the solution to the conflict as a real solution from the standpoint it adopts.

Accordingly, Ben-Artzi et al. (2015) see that the idea, which stipulates that conflict management methodology paves the way for a conflict resolution methodology, involves a problem of concept. This needs to be articulated and debated by literature, as the conflict management methodology has failed to form the bedrock to pave the way for a solution to the conflict and, therefore, represents a stumbling block to such access, as it is changing the nature of the interests of the parties to the conflict, as well as altering the concept of their common interests, so that they can reach the goal of resolving the conflict.

The movement of change in the positions and vision of the parties to the conflict can be conducted according to two forms. The first form reflects the responses of the parties to the efforts to bring about the desired change in its positions by an external influence. It is exactly the form has been discussed by previous studies. The second form reflects the flow and natural evolution of events. Conflict does not take place in a static environment, but witnesses shifts at every moment, visible or subtle, intentional or spontaneous, and possibly negative or positive according to the perspective of each party (Kriesberg 2014).

The parties to the conflict usually seek to make deliberate and planned transformations of the other side to serve their objectives and interests, and such efforts are part of the tools of conflict that the parties use in confronting each other. Each party seeks to pull the other party into its positions and perceptions and into the mechanisms it adopts to deal with the conflict (Thomas 1998).

In contrast to planned transformations, natural transformations occur that may not meet the interests of the strong party so that a strong party usually takes a firm stance against such transformations because they do not serve its interests. This suggests that attitudes towards transitions are carefully calculated and governed by a rule of interests and not by principles.

For example, the regional and international political systems have refused to recognize the results of the Palestinian legislative elections that was concluded in 2006, as an expression of rejection of one of the most natural conflict-related transitions. In a similar context, what has been known as the Quartet on the Middle East (the United States, Russia, European Union, United Nations) have asked Hamas who won elections to implement a list of conditions and demands as a prerequisite to resuming providing assistance for the Palestinian authority (Pike 2017; Gordon 2006).

Israel also imposed a series of sanctions against the new Palestinian government. The leaders of Israel have taken the initiative of saying that they will not sit with Hamas at the negotiating table, as it does not seem to be an appropriate partner, demanding the boycott of the new Palestinian Government. Indeed, Israel has refrained from negotiating with the Palestinian Authority under the leadership of Fatah for two years, replacing it with the implementation of unilateral procedures to impose a solution to the conflict according to the Israeli perspective (Bennis 2012).

## 4.5 Conclusion

The idea of replacing the conflict resolution methodology with the conflict management methodology was strongly present in the perceptions presented by previous studies to overcome the impasse of Palestinian-Israeli negotiations. This is an issue that calls for an examination of the impact of this replacement on the nature and outcomes of the negotiating process through an analysis of the opportunities for conflict management methodology to positively influence efforts aimed at finding a solution to the Palestinian-Israeli conflict. In particular, the call for replacement was made in the light of the failure of the conflict resolution methodology to reach a solution.

Research has shown that the conflict management methodology does not help to reach a solution to the conflict. In this context, it is also useful to analyze the formula that governs the relationship between the conflict resolution and conflict management methodologies, and, in this light, it has been possible to explore their respective contributions to the efforts aimed at resolving the conflict.

Learning about the Israeli negotiating methodology and examining its relationship with the conflict management methodology is vital as long as there are calls to use this methodology to address the Palestinian-Israeli conflict. The mechanisms, characteristics, and objectives of the conflict management methodology were found to be strongly present in Israeli negotiating behavior from the very beginning of the negotiating track. The chapter assesses conflict management methodology, explaining the focus of the methodology on shifts in the positions of the parties to the conflict in the first place, as a step facilitating the process of reaching a negotiated solution to the conflict.

It was critical to know whether the required transformations were aimed at both parties to the conflict or only at one of them. Through analysis and extrapolation, the study found that the work of the methodology concentrated only on the weak Palestinian party, and, therefore, the methodology seemed to be serving only one of the parties to the conflict and not the other. It can, therefore, be said that the methodology of conflict management plays a role as one of the conflict tools rather than an effective one that seeks to resolve it.

## References

- Aggestam, K. (1999). *Reframing and resolving conflict: Israeli-Palestinian negotiations* 1988–1998. Ph.D. thesis, Lund University.
- Aggestam, K., & Björkdahl, A. (2011). Just peace postponed: Unending peace processes & frozen conflicts (JAD-PbP Working Paper Series No. 10). ResearchGate. Retrieved May 29, 2016, https://bit.ly/2sVlUcU.
- Al-Khateeb, G. (2014). Al-siyasat al-Falasteeniyat wa a'amaliyat salam al-sharq al-awsat: Alijmaa' wa-l-tanafos dimn al-wafd al-Falasteeni al-mofawid (Arabic) [Palestinian policy and Middle East peace process: Unanimity and competition within the Palestinian negotiating delegation]. Beirut: The Institute for Palestine Studies.
- Barak, O. (2005). The failure of the Israeli-Palestinian peace process 1993–2000. Journal of Peace Research, 42(6), 719–736.
- Bar-Siman-Tov, Y. (2007). Dialectic between conflict management and conflict resolution. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.), *The Israeli-Palestinian Israeli-Palestinian conflict: From conflict resolution to conflict management* (pp. 9–40). Jerusalem: The Jerusalem Institute for Israel Studies, Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bar-Tal, D. (2000). From intractable conflict through conflict resolution to reconciliation psychological analysis. *Political Psychology*, 21(2), 351–365.
- Bar-Tal, D., & Salomon, G. (2006). Narratives of the Israeli-Palestinian conflict: Evolvement, contents, functions and consequences. Retrieved March 15, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2JogGg5.
- Ben-Artzi, R., Cristal, M., & Kopelman, S. (2015). Conceptualization conflict management and conflict resolution as distinct negotiation processes in the enduring Israeli-Palestinian negotiation. *Negotiation and Conflict Management Research*, 8(1), 56–63.
- Bennis, P. (2012). Understanding the Palestinian-Israeli conflict: A primer. Massachusetts: Olive Branch Press and Arab Research Institute.
- Brom, S. (2013). Itifaq Oslo wa-l-salam al-mostaheel araa wa taqweemat Israeeliyat: A'amaliyat Oslo fi-l- meezan baa'd 20 a'aman (Arabic) [Oslo agreement and impossible peace Israeli views and calendars: The Oslo process in the balance after 20 years] (Y. Al-Batal, Trans.). Beirut: The Institute for Palestine Studies, no. 7. Retrieved September 2, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2xi1BZP.
- Churchman, D. (1995). *Negotiation: Process tactics theory* (2nd ed.). Lanham, MD: University Press of America.
- Cohen, P. (2014). The root cause of the never-ending conflict in Palestine; and how to fix it. *HuffPost*. Retrieved April 5, 2016, from https://bit.ly/1onRoLX.
- Coleman, P. T. (2003). Characteristics of protracted intractable conflict: Toward the development of a meta framework-1. *Peace and Conflict: Journal of Peace Psychology*, 9(1), 1–37.

Dajani, B. (1996). An alternative to Oslo. Journal of Palestine Studies, 25(4), 5-19.

- Dayton, K. (2009). *Mohadarat: Sinaa'at al-Falasteeni al-jadeed* (Arabic) [Lecture: Manufacturing the new Palestinian]. Washington Institute for Middle East Policy. Retrieved June 2, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2xMCuzQ.
- Fisher, R., Ury, W., & Paton, B. (Eds.) (1991). *Getting to yes: Negotiating agreement without giving in* (2nd ed.). Random House Business Books.
- Gallo, G., & Marzano, A. (2009). The dynamics of asymmetric conflicts: The Israeli-Palestinian case. *The Journal of Conflict Studies*, 29, 33–49.
- Goldenberg, I. (2015). *Lessons from the 2013–2014 Israeli-Palestinian final status negotiations*. Washington: Center for a New America Security. Retrieved November 9, 2016, from https://bit. ly/2xeA1y9.
- Gordon, N. (2006). Why Hamas won. *Counter Punch*. Retrieved July 25, 2016, from https://bit.ly/ 2y0amIO.
- Handelman, S. (2011). *Conflict and peacemaking in Israel-Palestine: Theory and application*. London, New York: Routledge.
- Hill, B. J. (1982). Analysis of conflict resolution techniques from problem solving workshops to theory. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 26(1), 109–138.
- Isaac, J., & Rizik, M. (2002). Israel's land colonization policy and the viability of the Palestinian state. Jerusalem, Bethlehem: Applied Research Institute (ARIJ). Retrieved November 23, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2ypnFn2.
- Kelman, H. C. (1998). Social-psychological contributions to peace making and peace building in the Middle East. *Applied Psychology: An International Review*, 47(1), 5–28.
- Kelman, H. C. (1999). Experience from 30 years of action research on the Israeli-Palestinian conflict. In K. P. Spillmann & A. Wenger (Eds.), *Zeitgeschichtliche Hintergründe aktueller Konflikte VII:* Zürcher Beiträge zur Sicherheitspolitik und Konfliktforschung (Vol. 54, pp. 173–197).
- Kelman, H. C. (2004). Reconciliation as identity change: A social psychological perspective. In Y. Bar-Siman-Tov (Ed.), *From conflict resolution to reconciliation* (pp. 111–124). UK: Oxford University.
- Kelman, H. C. (2007). The Israeli-Palestinian peace process and its vicissitudes, insights from attitude theory. *American Psychologist*, 62(4), 287–303.
- Kriesberg, L. (2014). Negotiating conflict transformations. In M. Galluccio (Ed.), Handbook of international negotiation, interpersonal, intercultural, and diplomatic perspectives (pp. 109–122). Springer.
- Menkel-Meadow, C., & Nutenko, I. (2009). The next generation: Creating new peace process in the Middle East. *Negotiation Journal*, 25(4), 569–586.
- Miall, H. (2004). Conflict transformation a multi-dimensional task. Bergh of Research Center for Constructive Conflict Management, Springer. Retrieved July 5, 2016, from https://bit.ly/2y05btX.
- Pike, J. (2017). *Hamas (Islamic Resistance Movement)*. Retrieved February 22, 2017, from https:// bit.ly/2yp4zxG.
- Pruitt, D. G. (2015). Pre negotiation development of optimism in intractable conflicts. *International Negotiation*, 20(1), 59–72.
- Qurie, A. (2005). Al-riwayat al-Falasteeniyat al-kamilat lil mofawadat min Oslo ila kharetat altareeq, mofawadar Oslo (Arabic) [The complete Palestinian account of the negotiations: From Oslo to the Road Map. The path to the Road Map]. Beirut: The Institute for Palestine Studies.
- Said, E. (2002). Nihayat a'amaliyat salam Oslo wama baa'daha (Arabic) [The end of Oslo peace process and beyond]. Beirut: Dar Al-Adab.
- Stockton, R. R. (2014). *Strategic options in the Israeli-Palestinian conflict*. Retrieved March 14, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2fKozPW.
- Swanström, N. L. P., & Weissmann, M. S. (2005). Conflict, conflict prevention, conflict management and beyond: A conceptual exploration. Central Asia-Caucasus Institute Silk Road Studies Program, Concept Paper. Retrieved April 19, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2l8pKLO.
- Thomas, R. E. (1998). *Strategic negotiation: Concepts and accountability in utility regulation*. University of Florida. Retrieved May 2, 2017, from https://bit.ly/2fKNuTb.

- Yousef, A. T., & Mostafa, M. (2013). Netanyahu's strategy: A question of occupation and a dilemma of recognition. *International Journal of West Asian Studies*, 5(1), 61–76.
- Zartman, I. W. (Ed.). (2007). *Peacemaking in international conflict: Methods and techniques*. Washington, DC: United States Institute of Peace Press.
- Zartman, I. W. (2008). *Negotiation and conflict management: Essay on the theory and practice*. London: Routledge.

## Index

#### A

Aggestam, Karin, 9, 57 Al-Jabiri, 10 Al-Jarbawi, 24 Al-Maghazi, Ahmed, 19 Al-Mesiri, 21 Analysis of the nature of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, 17 Analytical frameworks, 3 Annapolis negotiations, 56 Assessment of conflict management methodology, 56 Asymmetry, 17 Avineri, Shlomo, 59

#### B

Baker III, James A., 26 Barak, Ehud, 2 BATNA, 34, 35, 40 Benvenisti, Meron, 21 Bjorkdahl, Annika, 9 Boudeh, 22 Brom, Sholmo, 27

#### С

Change in methodology, 4 Characteristics of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict, 18 asymmetric conflict, 19 existential conflict, 18 power asymmetry, 20 strategic asymmetry, 20 structural asymmetry, 23 Chronological sequence, 52 Cohen, Stephen, 25 Cold War. 7 Coleman. Peter T., 18, 54 The common interest strategy, 37 The concept of conflict, 4 The concept of conflict management, 8 Concept of conflict resolution, 1, 5, 6, 7, 12, 50, 53 Concept of intractability, 18 Concept of principled negotiations, 34 Conflict management, 8, 12, 43 patterns, 8 Conflict management and Israeli negotiating behavior, 54 Conflict management methodology, 8, 49, 50, 57 Conflict resolution, 1, 5, 7, 8, 12, 37, 52 Conflict resolution methodology, 3, 49, 52, 59, 60 Conflicts of interests, 10 Conflicts of values and basic needs, 10

## D

Dajani, Burhan, 34, 54 Dialectic relationship between conflict resolution and conflict management, 52 Drukman, Daniel, 41

#### E

Emergence of conflict management methodology, 49 European Union, 26, 60

© The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd. 2019 A. Muala, *Unlocking the Palestinian-Israeli Negotiations*, SpringerBriefs in Political Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-8794-4 The extent to which the negotiating process responds to the theoretical rules of negotiation, 34

#### F

Fatah, 60 Fisher, Roger, 34 Fragmentation strategy (distraction), 39 Freezing of conflict, 9

#### G

Gallion, Burhan, 42 Gallo, Giorgio, 5, 19, 24, 55 Gaza Strip, 21, 40, 55, 56 Goldenberg, Ilan, 18, 27 Grand Israel, 20–22 Gultong, Johan, 24

#### H

Handelman, Sapir, 17Hill, Barbara J., 7, 56How the methodology of the literature reflected on the nature of recommendations, 42

#### I

The impact of the international political context on the outcomes of the negotiating process, 41 The impact of the negotiating strategies used, 36 Intifada Al-Aqsa, 2 Israeli Labor Party, 2

#### J

Jalal, Ahmed F., 37 Johan Galtung, 4

#### K

Kelman, Herbert C., 19, 57, 59 Kriesberg, Louis, 18, 26

#### L

Lack of trust between the parties to the conflict, 25 Likud, 2, 26 Lopez, George, 4 Luecke, Richard, 34

#### Μ

Machover, Moshe, 26 Madrid Peace Conference, 1, 54 Mansour, Camille, 40 Marzano, Arturo, 24 Mial, Hugh, 41, 50 Middle East, 2, 42, 60

#### Ν

Natural transformations, 60 Nature of a conflict, 23, 28 Netanyahu, Benjamin, 2 Nikolaev, Alexander, 41 North, Robert, 5

### 0

Oslo Accords, 26, 54, 55 Other factors influencing the outcomes of the negotiating process, 33

#### Р

Palestine Liberation Organization (PLO), 1, 23, 27, 39, 55
Palestinian-Israeli negotiation experience, 2
Patterns of conflict, 1
Pigen, Menachem, 21
Pillar, Paul, 6
Planned transformations, 59
Political culture, 3
Pollack, Joel, 17
Psychological inhibitions, 28
Psycho-social infrastructure, 3
Pundak, Ron, 26
Pure conflict, 11

#### R

Rabin, Yitzhak, 22, 26 Replacement, 53 Reverse substitution of conflict methodologies, 53 Rhodes Armistice Agreements of 1949, 39 Robbins, 37 Rohana, Nadim., 40 Roy, Sarah, 56 Russia, 26, 60

#### S

Scrutiny of the negotiating objectives of the parties to the conflict, 41 Second Palestinian Intifada, 20 Security Council Resolution 242, 2 Shafi, Haider Abdul, 40 Sharon, Ariel, 2, 20, 21 Shlaim, Avi, 26, 42 Stole, Michael, 4 Strategic impediments, 28 Index

The strategy of conflict approach, 38 The strategy of control provisions (subjugation), 39 The strategy of exhaustion (attrition), 38 Structural impediments, 28

#### Т

Taba talks, 2 Tanner, Fred, 8 Tizini, Tayyeb, 21 Tov, Bar-Siman, 37, 49, 52 Tzoref, Yohanan, 24

#### U

United States, 1, 7, 26, 39, 60

#### v

The viability of the Palestinian-Israeli conflict for negotiated solutions, 36 Vital, David, 59

#### W

Waage, Hilde, 27 Wallensteen, Peter, 5 Western perspective, 51 Wright, Quincy, 4

### Y

Ya'alon, Moshe, 21 Yuri, William, 34

#### Z

Zartman, William, 8, 41 Zero-sum game, 27 Zero-sum methodology, 37 Zionism, 22 Zionist ideology, 59 Zionist movement, 19, 22 Zionist project, 19, 20